
Resources and Transformation Directorate
Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House 107-117 Botchergate, 

Carlisle, Cumbria CA1 1RD
Tel 01228 227354  Email democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk

1

To:  The Chair and Members of the Scrutiny 
Advisory Board - Children and Young 
People

Agenda
SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE

A meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board - Children and Young People will be held as 
follows: 

Date: Monday 18 December 2017
Time: 10.30 am
Place: Cumbria House, Carlisle

Please Note:-

There will be a pre-meeting for Members only at 10:00am

Dawn Roberts
Corporate Director – Resources and Transformation

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Holly English
Direct Line: 01228 227354
Email: holly.english@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the people of Cumbria



2

MEMBERSHIP

Conservative (6) Labour (4)
Mrs EA Mallinson
Mrs V Tarbitt (Chair)
Mr RK Bingham
Mr P Dew
Mr B Shirley (Vice-Chair)
Mr AW Wonnacott

Mrs C Bowditch
Mr W McEwan
Ms C Driver
Mrs EL Williamson

Liberal Democrat (3)

Mrs S Evans
Mr W Clark
Mr GD Cook

 

Church Representatives (2) Parent Governor Representatives (3)

Mr M Mills
Mr C Proctor

Mr B Eaton
Mr NA Robinson
Mr RN Webb

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


3

A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence  

2  MEMBERSHIP

To report any changes to the membership of the Board  

3  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b)  Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial 
interest.



4

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   

Member Code of Conduct - Declaring Interests Flowchart  (Pages 7 - 8)

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.  

5  MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 2015.  
(Pages 9 - 14)

6  CHILDREN'S COMPLAINTS REPORT

To consider a report from the Corporate Director – Children and Families Services (copy 
enclosed).
  (Pages 15 - 38)

7  SCHOOL ATTAINMENT DATA 2017

To consider a report from the Corporate Director – Children and Families Services (copy 
enclosed).
  (Pages 39 - 52)



5

8  REVIEW OF ALTERNATIVE PROVISION

To consider a report by the Corporate Director – Children and Families Services (copy 
enclosed).
  (Pages 53 - 62)

9  TRANSFORMING CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH 
SERVICES - GOVERNMENT GREEN PAPER

To consider a report from the Corporate Director – Children and Families Services (copy 
enclosed).
  (Pages 63 - 124)

10 PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE

To receive an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services and the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Schools and Learning.  

11 CORPORATE DIRECTOR'S UPDATE

To receive an update from the Corporate Director – Children and Families Services

12 BOARD BRIEFING

To consider a report from the Corporate Director – Resources and Transformation (copy 
enclosed).

The report informs members of new and updated items of significance to the Board 
(including relevant aspects of the Council’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions)  (Pages 125 
- 128)

13 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

Date: 20 February 2018
Time: 10:30am
Venue: County Offices, Kendal
  



This page is intentionally left blank



Is the matter about something
in Part A (Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests) of my
register of interests?

YES NO

You must
declare it and

leave the room.
You cannot take

part without a
dispensation

Is it about something on
Part B (other registerable
interests) of my Register?

NO

Does it affect the financial
interests of me, my friends,
family or close associates?

YES

You have an
'other registerable
interest' and must
declare it unless it
is on the register
already.  You can

still speak and
vote

YES
Are you or they affected more
than most people and would
most people think you might

have your judgement clouded?

You must not
vote but you

can speak if
public allowed to

You have
no interest
to declare

YES

You can
take part
and
speak
and vote

NO NO

MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT – DECLARING INTERESTS

NB:  You do not need to declare the nature of ‘sensitive’ interests.
You may still speak and vote if you have been granted a dispensation7



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board - Children and Young People 
held on Friday, 15 September 2017 at 10.30 am at Kendal

PRESENT:

Mrs V Tarbitt (Chair)

Mr B Eaton
Mrs EA Mallinson
Ms C Driver
Mrs EL Williamson
Mr P Dew

Mr B Shirley (Vice-Chair)
Mr AW Wonnacott
Mr W Clark
Mr GD Cook

Also in Attendance:-

Mr J Macilwraith - Corporate  Director - Children and Families Services
Miss H English - Democratic Services Officer
Mr J Taylor - Senior Manager - Early Help and Targeted Youth 

Support
Mr H Cox - Policy and Scrutiny Officer
Mr J Rasbash - Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Mrs S Evans

2 MEMBERSHIP

The new membership of the board was noted.

The board gave thanks to the previous Chair Mr D Fairbairn and wished to express 
their thanks for all his hard work and commitment to the board for the last 4 years.

3 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made.

4 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that the press and public be not excluded from the meeting for 
any item on the agenda.

9

Agenda Item 5



5 MINUTES

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17 February 
2017 be confirmed as a correct record.

Matters Arising

Under Minute No 108 it was requested that the presentation on education be 
circulated to all new Members. 

Under Minute No 110 it was agreed that the Task and Finish Group to review  
recruitment and retention of Social Workers be referred to the Corporate Parenting 
Board.

Also under Minute No 110 it was noted that a letter had been sent to the Minister for 
Health which recommend that funding from the Soft Drinks Industry Levy be 
directed to public health rather than schools. 

Members asked the question whether the belief that all schools would become 
academies was still relevant. It was advocated that this was not included in the most 
recent Conservative Party manifesto.

A discussion took place regarding the current inclusion strategy and Pupil Referral 
Unit’s (PRU’s) in the County; it was noted that the new Assistant Director would be 
able to discuss this with Members when he is in attendance at the next meeting of 
the board. In addition to this it was agreed that Officers would liaise with Leadership 
Support Officers to organise Member visits to PRU’s in the County.

6 CUMBRIA'S CHILDREN'S IMPROVEMENT JOURNEY

The Board received a presentation from the Corporate Director – Children and 
Families Services which informed Members of the Council and Partner’s progress in 
implementing the Children’s Improvement Programme.

In presenting the Improvement Update the board discussed:-

 External scrutiny and validation

Members were informed that since July 2015 the County Council had received 14 
Ofsted monitoring visits and 3 Department for Education reviews. At the latest 
Ofsted monitoring visit in August 2017 inspectors noted improvements in practice, 
management oversight, use of the voice of the child and care planning. Members 
were also informed that Ofsted were expected to visit before 2018.

 Improvements in performance and quality

The board received the latest performance figures and were delighted to see they 
were moving in a positive direction. It was also noted that inspectors had 
commented on how Audit is a strength in the authority, however room for 

10



improvement could be made in relation to SMART planning and management 
oversight.

 Changes in culture

The Corporate Director presented the findings of a survey conducted to assess staff 
morale within the directorate, Members were pleased that the results showed an 
improvement in motivation.

 Education

Members were presented with the Schools Provisional Pupil Outcomes 2017. It was 
noted that the results were provisional at this stage and the new Assistant Director – 
Learning and Inclusion would attend the next board meeting to discuss the results in 
more detail once validation had been carried out.

 Partnership

Members were informed of the latest partnership developments including; delivery 
of the LSCB Annual Report and Business Plan, development and implementation of 
the Children and Young People Plan and improved Children’s Trust Board, review 
and refresh of the Corporate Parenting Board and development and implementation 
of the Children Looked After Strategy.

 Priorities

The Corporate Director advocated that there would be a continued focus on West 
and South Cumbria, the overall quality of practice and preparation for the upcoming 
Ofsted inspection.

RESOLVED, that the report be noted.

7 CUMBRIA LSCB EARLY HELP STRATEGY

The board received a presentation from the Corporate Director – Children and 
Families Services which informed Members of the Early Help Strategy Refresh.

Members were provided with an update on:-

 Achievements

 Work to date on Strategy Refresh

 The Vision

 Next steps

A question was raised about how the authority would be able to measure success of 
the strategy and the Senior Manager – Early Help & Targeted Youth Support 

11



advised that the authority may see a reduction in cases passed to the Safeguarding 
Hub, less Children Looked After and less Child Protection plans.

A discussion took place regarding the LSCB’s proposals for the draft strategy and 
the Board’s role in pre-scrutinising the strategy. It was agreed that a review be 
undertaken in 6 months.

RESOLVED that,

(1) the report be noted;

(2) the Board to receive an update on the progress in 
implementation of the strategy

(3) a review into the Board’s role in pre-scrutinising the 
Cumbria LSCB Early Help Strategy be carried out in 6 months.

8 CABINET MEMBERS UPDATES

a Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children's Services

A report was considered from the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services which 
updated the Board on her work since the last meeting.

Consideration was given to a report of the Children’s Trust Board Child Poverty Sub 
Group meeting. Members were informed that the Children’s Trust Board had invited 
the following organisations to join future meetings:

- Credit union’s
- Police
- District Councils
- Fire and Rescue Service.

A discussion took place regarding a national report into Generation Z and their 
resilience. It was AGREED that the report be circulated to all members of the board.

RESOLVED, that

(1)  the report be noted,

(2) The national report on Generation Z be circulated to all 
members of the Board

b Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Schools and Learning

A report was presented by the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning, which 
updated Members on her activities since being appointed to the post in June.

12



The Cabinet Member advocated she was aware of concerns from Head Teachers 
regarding the recent changes to GCSEs and A-Levels. The Board agreed it was 
important to ensure student’s are not disadvantaged because of this change.

Members attention was drawn to a report by the National Audit Office on retaining 
and developing the teaching workforce, a question was raised regarding whether 
Cumbria is a good place for teachers to work. In response the Board were informed 
only 1 in 10 posts in Cumbria were filled by people who have the correct level of 
expertise and knowledge. Members queried how this compares to national statistics. 

RESOLVED, that

(1) the report be noted.

(2) the Board is to receive a response from the Corporate 
Director concerning how Cumbria’s statistics on teaching 
posts compare to the national statistics.

9 BOARD BRIEFING

To board considered a report from the Corporate Director – Resources and 
Transformation which briefed the board on changes to membership, board activity 
since the previous board and presented the proposed work programme that was 
due to go to Scrutiny Management Board.

A discussion took place regarding the current unauthorised school absence policy. 
The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning suggested that the authorities 
current policy did not meet the current standards. As a result of this the Board 
suggested that a review would be useful.

The Board noted that an additional meeting had been organised in November to 
look at school performance, this was a referral from the School Performance 
Working Group.

RESOLVED that

(1) The briefing be noted

(2) The proposed work programme be agreed.

10 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next Meeting of the Board would be held on 18 December 2017 at Cumbria 
House, Carlisle at 10:30am.

The meeting ended at 12.50 pm

13



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 18 December 2017

From: Corporate Director - Children and Families 
Services

Complaints Annual Report

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To take to the Board for noting the Complaints Annual Report. This is done 
each year.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To note the report in appendix 2.

2.2 To question the Director on progress addressing any strategic, policy or 
practice issues arising from complaints. 

2.3 To ask any technical questions as points of clarification on appendix 2.

3.0 Background

3.1 Every year Children and Families Services has a statutory responsibility to 
produce an annual report on complaints. This goes to the Board prior to 
publication. 

3.2 While the report focuses on the technical details and statistics arising from 
the complaints, the Directorate is also keen to look at lessons learnt and 
issues to take forward. Appendix 1 is a presentation setting out the latter, 
that was based on a Story Board that was provided to the Ofsted inspectors 
in November 2017. Appendix 2 is the report which Members are asked to 
note and ask any questions for clarification.  

John Macilwraith, Corporate Director - Children and Families Services
18 December 2017

15

Agenda Item 6



Appendices

1. Presentation. 2. Complaints Annual Report

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

Background Papers

No background papers.

Contact: Richard Corton, richard.corton@cumbria.gov.uk

16

mailto:richard.corton@cumbria.gov.uk


Serving the people of Cumbria

Children &
Families Services
Complaints
Scrutiny 18 December
2017

17



Serving the people of Cumbria

Annual report – key messages
• The number of complaints handled under the Children Act procedure

has reduced from 95 in   2015/16 to 71 in 2016/17.  25 complaints were
progressed through the corporate complaints procedure.

• The highest proportion of complaints continue to be received from
parents or relatives of children (72%).  There is a reducing proportion
received from children themselves (13% this year compared to 23% in
2015/16)

• Complaints at stage 1 were dealt with more quickly in 2016/17 than the
previous year.  In 2016/17, the proportion of stage 1 complaints that
were resolved in under 10 days increased to 33% (up from 26% in the
previous year).  The proportion taking between 11 and 20 days also
increased (up from 24% to 34%)

• 3 stage 2 complaints were concluded during the year

18



Serving the people of Cumbria

Presenting issues
• The primary reasons for complaints

remain consistent with previous years
and relate to issues of attitude and
conduct of staff, communication and
service provision.

• We welcome complaints as a learning
opportunity to improve our services

19



Serving the people of Cumbria

Management & Reporting
• Complaints are managed centrally by the Information

Governance Team, and sent out to relevant managers for
response upon receipt.

• A fortnightly tracker is circulated to all levels of management
which highlights open complaints with response deadlines

• A quarterly DMT report which contains detailed performance
information and covers themes and trends

• Decision notices received from the Local Government
Ombudsman in relation to complaints for the Directorate are
considered by the Corporate Director and responses signed off

20



Serving the people of Cumbria

Raising awareness
• Our numbers of complaints from children and young people have

reduced compared to previous years. We know that our advocacy
service (NYAS) have being doing good work supporting young people
to resolve issues and prevent complaints, and that overall our services
are improving.  However, we are not complacent about the need to
ensure young people know how to complain.

• We’ve included leaflets on making a complaint, and accessing
advocacy from NYAS in our six monthly feedback mailing to all CLA
(posted October 2017)  All staff have been reminded via team brief of
the importance of the complaints process (July 2017)

• Awareness is also raised through the Children in Care Council and
online via the website.

21



Serving the people of Cumbria

Learning
• The themes from complaints are analysed and

included in the quarterly report for DMT
• A lead service manager has been identified for

complaints who will meet on a quarterly basis with
the Information Governance Team and identify
generic learning themes to be cascaded through
team brief and those items that require discussion at
the Continuous Improvement Board and allocation to
senior managers for resolution

22



Serving the people of Cumbria

Themes
• The issues raised specifically by young people include financial issues,

communication, delayed service/service provision, placement issues and
staff attitude

• The complaints team will not close a complaint without the manager
completing a ‘learning’ form to identify lessons learned relating to a
complaint.

• All children and young people who make a complaint are offered the
support of an independent advocate via our provider NYAS.  Case
studies are produced which demonstrate how the service have
supported young people

23



Serving the people of Cumbria

Future developments
• We will continue to review the numbers of complaints from

children and young people and other avenues for raising
awareness, and further training needs that staff may have

• The DCS will strengthen the line of sight relating to
complaints made by children and young people and the
resolution of these

• A service review of complaints to be conducted corporately
during 2018 will consider any other actions required in
relation to training needs, IT developments, and further
action to enhance learning from complaints.

24



CHILDREN’S & FAMILIES SERVICES 
COMPLAINTS QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE 
REPORT: QUARTER 2 (JULY – SEPTEMBER 2017)
Issued: For Scrutiny Advisory Board – Children and 
Young People

From: Richard Corton: Senior Analyst

1. Performance Headlines

Ref Indicator Target Performance
(Last Q in brackets)

Trend -
(numerical 
increase/ 
decrease)

1.1 Number of new complaints progressed by 
complaints team1 N/A Children Act – 9 (16)

Corporate – 3 (6)



1.2 Cumulative % of Children Act complaints 
resolved at Stage 1 (annual data to end of 
Q2)

90% 95% (92%) 

1.3 Cumulative % of Children Act complaints 
responded to within Stage 1 timescale (20 
days)2

100% 8% (38%) 

1.4
(Stretch Target) Cumulative % of 
Children Act complaints responded to 
within 10 days 2

50% 0% (25%) 
Further detailed breakdown of complaints received during the quarter, including by district 
and key presenting issue, is attached in Appendix 1

Key
 Numerical increase (colour of arrow indicates if this is desirable or undesirable against target)
 No change
 Numerical decrease (colour of arrow indicates if this is desirable or undesirable against target)

2. Performance Commentary  

1 School complaints are not included in these totals as they are not progressed/investigated by the LA but referred back 
to use the School’s own complaints procedure
2 The Children Act Procedure allows for the extension of the stage 1 timescale from 10 to 20 days where more time is 
needed to provide a full response.

25



2.1 Volume of complaints
The number of new complaints progressed through the Children Act Procedure 
decreased between Q1 2017/18 and Q2 2017/18 (down from 16 to 9), a fall of 44%.

Issues which are judged to be easily resolvable and not of a serious nature are 
passed back to the appropriate team in an attempt to resolve locally before 
progressing as a formal complaint.  These are logged as concern/enquiries with 
progress monitored by the complaints team and learning data extracted.  There 
were 38 concern/enquiries received during the quarter, an increase from 26 in Q1 
(+46%).

A combined total of 47 complaints and concern/enquiries were received in relation 
to children’s social care services within the quarter.  This represents an increase 
from 41 in Q1 (+15%), and from 45 in Q4 2016/17 (+4%).

The number of new complaints received and progressed through the Corporate 
Procedure has fallen from 6 to 3 in this reporting period, a decrease of -50% from 
Q1.

 
2.2 Stage 1 response timescales (Children Act Procedure)

The cumulative annual percentage of Stage 1 responses completed within the 20 
day maximum timescale has increased over the last quarter (up from 92% to 95%).  
During Q2, 100% of complaints responded to were resolved at Stage 1.  
Performance for responses has worsened, however, with just 8% of Stage 1 
responses being made within the statutory timescale, compared with 38% in Q1.  
This is somewhat adrift from our performance target of 100% and from figures over 
the last financial year (2016/17) which ranged from 63% to 80%.

Performance in relation to the preferred statutory response time of 10 working days 
has also worsened (down from 25% in Q1 to 0% in the current quarter).  The 
performance target is 50%, which has not been achieved in the whole of the last 
financial year.

The response times (within 20 days) in the west of the county have fallen from 33% 
to 0% between Q1 and Q2.  There were no responses made in Carlisle & Eden this 
month and Barrow & South Lakeland was at 10% (1 of 10 complaints) in Q2.  

2.3 Resolution at stage 1 (Children Act Procedure)
The cumulative number of complaints resolved at Stage 1 during the quarter only 
has improved (from 87% in Q1 to 100% in this quarter).  The performance target is 
90%.  The Complaints Team continue to negotiate with complainants by offering a 
meeting with an appropriate senior manager as a final step in trying to resolve a 
complaint at Stage 1 of the process.

2.4 Stage 2 investigations (Children Act Procedure)
There were no requests for a Stage 2 investigation within the quarter – a fall from 1 
in Q1.

26



2.5 Presenting issues in complaints 
The key presenting issues in complaints continue to be consistent with the analysis 
of complaints received over previous quarters, with service provision, placement 
issues and poor communication remaining the main reasons for making a 
complaint.

2.6 Representations from children and young people
There was 1 complaint received from a children/young person during the months 
July to September 2017, a fall from 3 in Q1.  All children and young people who 
wish to make a complaint are routinely offered the services of an independent 
advocate.

There were no compliments received this quarter directly from a young person – 
see compliments report provided.

2.8 Compliments
There were 14 compliments logged during the quarter.  All compliments are logged 
and the individuals mentioned receive feedback from the appropriate Assistant 
Director or Senior Manager.  A full list of compliments received can be found at 
Appendix 2 of this report.  

2.9 Local Government Ombudsman Activity
 

In Quarter 2 the authority received 9 complaints from the LGO in relation to 
Education and Children’s Services.  Details of the complaint and the current position 
regarding the complaints are shown in the table below.

LGO Ref: 
& Date 
received.

Complaint summary Current position.

17002119 
25/09/2017.

The Council had failed to recognise and 
support a child in need or their family.

Information and evidence 
requested by the LGO to 
consider the complaint 
further has been provided.

17003673
26/07/2017.

Complaint re a plan to place complainant’s 
great great grandson for adoption.  Critical of 
the actions of social worker towards the 
mother, (her granddaughter).

Final decision received: The 
Ombudsman would not 
investigate the complaint. 
The complaint is outside the 
Ombudsman’s 
jurisdiction because it 
involves court decisions.

17004253
12/07/2017.

Complainant wanted to challenge and remove 
the statements made about him in Court.

Final decision received: The 
Ombudsman cannot 
investigate information the 
Council has provided to the 
court for family court 
proceedings because it lies 
outside their jurisdiction. 
LGO cannot consider 
matters that are subject to 
court proceedings.

17004456 There were failings in the way the Council dealt Information and evidence 

27



10/07/2017. with complainants as Foster Carers resulting in 
their resignation and causing them 
considerable distress.

requested by the LGO to 
consider the complaint 
further has been provided.

17004743
12/07/2017.

The Council has not met with the complainant 
nor had it responded to his 
complaint. Complaint is that he was abused by 
two social workers in a court building and his 
social worker would not take any responsibility 
saying he had to complain to the local 
authority.   

Final decision received 
04.10.2017 upholding 
complaint. Response since 
provided to complainant 
under stage 1 of the 
statutory 
Children Act 1989 
complaints procedure, which 
confirmed his right to 
progress the complaint to 
stage 2 if he wishes.

17005887 
01/08/2017.

Complainant advised the Council failed to 
provide her with enough support to deal with 
her domestic circumstances before it began 
court action and took her son into care. She 
also complains the Council had refused to 
investigate and respond to her complaint while 
care proceedings are still before the courts.

Final decision received: The 
Ombudsman will not 
investigate the complaint as 
they could not separate the 
matters in her complaint 
from the ongoing care 
proceedings, nor could they 
assess her injustice from 
other related matters until 
the court action is finished.

17007098 
23/08/2017.

Complaint made regarding the many mistakes 
the service made involving Child Protection 
Plans on both of the complainants children.

Information and evidence 
requested by the LGO to 
consider the complaint 
further has been provided.

17007293 
09/08/2017.

Complaint received regarding an appeal 
against the refusal of a school place for 
complainant’s child.

Final decision received: The 
LGO would not investigate 
the complaint as they could 
not achieve a worthwhile 
outcome.

17007560 
12/09/2017

The complaint related to the actions of a 
Council officer in relation to a concerns raised 
about 
the staging of a play at a school.

Final decision received: The 
Ombudsman could not 
investigate the complaint  
because the Ombudsman is 
prevented in law from 
making enquiries about 
internal school 
management issues, and so 
could not come to an 
evidence based decision on 
the substance of the 
complaint.

3. Learning from complaints

28



3.1 Learning from both complaints and compliments is recognised as being central to 
improvement and the themes from complaints received are analysed quarterly and 
are disseminated via the team brief and senior manager’s meetings to enhance our 
learning.  A service manager lead for complaints has been identified - reviewing 
complaints each quarter in conjunction with the complaints team.  Drawing out 
practice issues and themes and feeding these into the team brief is central to this.  
Key themes which require further discussion will also be identified and issues will 
be fed in to the Continuous Improvement Board (CIB) for review by senior 
managers.  Key themes identified this quarter centre around communication, 
service provision and placement issues. 

Examples of Countywide practice issues which have been identified this quarter 
which will feed in to the team brief are:

(1) Communication: “Further training around ensuring parents are kept informed”; 
and “Ensure parents are kept informed of developments” are to be put into the 
November team brief as general learning.

(2) Placement issues: “accurate and timely recording of assessments, analysis and 
decisions made and also highlight the importance of regular and clear 
communication between all parties throughout this period” is to be put into the 
November team brief as general learning.

 Examples of Countywide practice issues which have been identified this quarter 
which will be fed into the CIB are:

(1) Service provision: “Alternative/voluntary advocacy sources to be identified and 
offered to parents who may need support at meetings etc.” Fiona has looked 
into this and will bring paper to CIB for consideration.

(2) Service provision: “Lack of clarity around the issue of minutes from Child 
Protection Conferences and Child Looked After Review meetings i.e. the dates 
they will be issued and to whom. Review of the case records has confirmed the 
issue of these minutes. However, to make retrieval of this information much 
easier and ensure a consistent approach from case to case, this information is 
recorded at a central location within a child’s records”. Needs further discussion 
at CIB.

4. Complaints Tracker

4.1 The table below shows a summary of the latest version of the open complaints 
tracker which is used for support in monitoring complaint responses in the service 
areas in Children’s Services.

4.2 There are an increasing number of complaints/concerns that have not been 
responded to or which are out of timescale.  Teams are provided with details of 
each complaint and open complaints exceeding the 20 working day deadline for 
response are highlighted in ‘red’, those with working days between 10 and 20 are 
‘amber’, and those below 10 working days are ‘green’.

29



Open complaints by 
procedure type 
(06/10/2017)

A&C B&SL C&E Countywide TOTAL

Children Act (Stage 1) 5 7 1 0 13
Children Act (Stage 2) 2 3 0 1 6
Children Act (Stage 3) 2 0 0 0 2
Corporate 3 1 1 1 6
Concern/Enquiry 17 16 2 1 36
TOTAL 29 27 4 3 63

30



Appendix 1 - District Performance Summary 

Overview

Total* Car/Ede All/Cop Bar/SL

Ref Area and Procedure

Ta
rg

et

CA Corp CA Corp CA Corp CA Corp

9 3 1 0 2 2 5 0
2.1 No. of new complaints -

       

100% 100% 100% 100%
2.2

Cumulative % of those 
responded to that were 
resolved at Stage 1 
(CA only)^

90%
+    

*Includes complaints that are countywide and not specific to a district
^Please note that the performance criteria is measured by complaints responded to during the period rather than those 
closed during the period.  This is to provide a more current indicator as some cases may be open for a long period of 
time, often in excess of 12 months. 

Key
 Numerical increase (colour of arrow indicates if this is desirable or undesirable against target)
 No change
 Numerical decrease (colour of arrow indicates if this is desirable or undesirable against target)

Further Analysis of Children Act Complaints Processed during Q2 
2017/18

Ref Area Target Total* Car/Ede All/Cop Bar/SL
8% n/a 0% 10%

4.1
% Stage 1 responses made 
during the quarter within the  
statutory timescale (20 days)

100%
   
14

(12)
3

(3)
7

(7)
4

(2)4.2

Stage 1 outstanding 
responses at end of quarter
(no. of which are out of the 20 
day maximum timescale)

0
   

0 0 0 0
4.3 No. of Stage 2 investigations 

instigated
=<10% of 

Children Act 
complaints    

1 0 1 0
4.4 No. of Stage 3 panels 

instigated
=<2% of 

Children Act 
complaints    

0 0 0 0
4.5 No. of complaints received  

rated as high risk this quarter -
   

*Includes complaints that are countywide and not specific to a district

Complaints received during the quarter – by procedure type (Q2)
Ref Procedure Jul Aug Sep Total
3.1 Children Act 4 3 2 9
3.2 Corporate 1 1 1 3
3.3 Concern/enquiry 14 10 14 38

Total 19 14 17 50

31



32



Further Analysis of Corporate Complaints received during Q2 2017/18

33



Appendix 2 – Compliments received July to September 2017

Ref Receipt Date District Summary
Access & Inclusion (Non Social Care)
CSD/0053-17 13/07/2017 14:14 South Lakeland + Barrow EXTERNAL - from Care Home Manager re Laura Fitzgerald-Park (Snr A&I Officer): "I would 

like to formally let you know just how grateful both myself, and one of the young people in our 
care home is for all the work and commitment Laura has given to ensure she has access to 
an education, this YP joined us in early February this year with no provision in place, and had 
been out of education for such a long time, in regards to education and future choices this YP 
was in a vulnerable place, Laura has been the driving force to ensure she has  had every 
opportunity available to her to achieve her short and long term goals. With great thanks to 
Laura, this YP has been accessing home tuition which has gone extremely well and is in the 
process of enrolling at Kendal College this September. I am confident enough to say that 
without the help and commitment from Laura this would not have been the case. I am aware 
that this is part of the LAC care plan and the responsibility of the home authority and Laura 
has no  legal responsibility for Chloe's education, however she has worked above and beyond 
her role to ensure this YP living here has access to an education, and has given her a strong 
platform to build her future from and achieve her full potential."

1 Row(s)

SEND (Non Social Care)

CSD/0044-17 03/07/2017 10:21 South Lakeland + Barrow EXTERNAL - Email rec'd from parent to Carole Banks (SEND Specialist Advisory Teacher): "I 
can't thank all of you enough for all the good you've done for xxx (and me, too).  I really hope 
we find the same kind of support in xxx."

CSD/0050-17 07/07/2017 13:01 South Lakeland + Barrow EXTERNAL - Email rec'd from Headteacher re Kate Holliday (HLTA with SEND Teaching 
Support Team): "...I just wanted to pass on how highly I regarded your support for me, the 
staff and students at JRS.  It has been a challenge getting myself up to speed with the 
challenge of so many complex ASC students in mainstream and without you personally going 
the extra mile for students here I have no doubt that the students, and the school, would be 
significantly worse off. Thanks again for all your support."

CSD/0059-17 24/07/2017 10:13 South Lakeland + Barrow EXTERNAL: Email from parent to Kate Holliday (Higher Level Teaching Assistant) "Just 
wanted to say thanks for taking XXX to Kendal on Monday, he loved it and its really given him 
something to aim for,  He had a great time with you two as well and was really full of it all 
when he came home."

CSD/0095-17 08/09/2017 11:48 South Lakeland + Barrow EXTERNAL: Email from Zoe Benson (SEND SW) re Sarah Stephens (SEND SW): "Just 
spoke to .... mum, XXX.  She is a positive frame of mind and was talking about how in the 
past all professionals haven't had faith in her and this impacted on her confidence, and ability 
to parent.  She said that the only professional who was supportive and believed in her was 
Sarah Stephens and this really helped her confidence.  She was very grateful to Sarah and 
spoke very highly of the support she gave. Thought this would be nice to share with Sarah, 
XXX feels Sarah has made a real difference to her family."

CSD/0105-17 26/09/2017 12:55 Allerdale + Copeland EXTERNAL: Email rec'd from parent via HeadTeacher re Pam Fairhurst (EP): "..following the 
family meeting this week for XXX's EHCP....extremely complimentary about all the 
professionals invovled and very grateful for the way that the meeting was conducated and all 
the contributions....said that he had learnt a lot about his son and his needs from the 

34



professionals there and commended them on their honesty, sensitivity and knowledge.  He 
felt that everyone was listened too, worked together in a very positive way and he felt 
confident of the best possible outcome for his son...."

5 Row(s)

Children Looked After and Leaving Care (Social Care)

CSD/0073-17 11/08/2017 15:53 Carlisle + Eden EXTERNAL: Email rec'd from Adoption Social Worker (Family Care) re Jayne Moffet (SW): "... 
how impressed I have been by the boys' SW Jayne Moffet throughout the process.  I am the 
SW for the adopters xxx, and I have worked with Jayne for almost two years now ....I work 
with many children's SWs across the country and Jayne definitely stands out. She has put the 
boys first throughout and has been very mindful of their previous disruption.  The boy's 
adopters have fed back to me that ... Jayne was helpful, even from the other side of the 
country, and they particularly appreciated what they described as her 'practical' approach.  
Jayne is consistent in always following through with what she says she will do, and her 
delivery of reports/documents is excellent, often prior to the deadline.  I have always found 
Jayne friendly and supportive towards myself as a colleague.  I did Jayne's job for many years 
and am well aware of how intensely stressful it can be; I have observed that she is calm in a 
crisis and does not lose her sense of humour.  Overall I have found Cumbria a good local 
authority to work with, with good systems, and I would have no hesitation working with 
Cumbria again, despite the significant distance involved.  I would also like to mention that I 
found working with a number of other Cumbria workers such as Jean Sadler and Yvonne 
Eardley a very positive experience."

CSD/0085-17 29/08/2017 15:18 Carlisle + Eden EXTERNAL: From adoption agency re Jayne Moffet (SW); "....how impressed I have been by 
XXX SW Jayne Moffet throughout the process... Jayne definitely stands out.  She has put 
XXX first throughout and have been very mindful of ...previous disruption ... adopters have fed 
back to me that ...Jayne was helpful, even from the other side of the country, and they 
particularly appreciated what they described as her 'practical' approach.  Jayne is consistent 
in always following through with what she says she will do, and her delivery of 
reports/documents is excellent, often prior to the deadline.  I have always found Jayne friendly 
and supportive towards myself as a colleague.  I did Jayne's job for many years and am well 
aware how intensely stressful it can be; I have observed that she is calm in a crisis and does 
not lose her sense of humour.  Overall I have found Cumbria a good local authority to work 
with, with good local authority to work with, with good systems, and I would have no hesitation 
working with Cumbria again...I would also like to mention that I found working with a number  
of other Cumbria workers such as Jean Ssdler and Yvonne Eardley a very positive 
experience."

CSD/0104-17 26/09/2017 12:12 South Lakeland + Barrow EXTERNAL: Thank you card received from Mum to Liz Allen (SW): "Thank you for making me 
the happiest Mum in the world.  Without your time, care efforts and support to XXX and I we 
wouldn't be here now. So thank you deeply."

3 Row(s)

Safeguarding Hub (Social Care)
CSD/0086-17 29/08/2017 15:41 Countywide EXTERNAL: From Sexual Health Nurse @ Cumbria Partnership NHS Trust: "I would just like 

to say after recently sending in a single contact form, I was very imprssed to receive a prompt 
and detailed letter updating me on what decisions had been made.  I think when agencies 

35



communicate well together the overall result is always going to be a positive one."
1 Row(s)

Support and Child Protection (Social Care)

CSD/0069-17 07/08/2017 14:44 Allerdale + Copeland EXTERNAL: phone call from Grandparent re Trish McConville (SW) - had provided more than 
an excellent service.  She had been very supportive, caring, very experienced and totally 
professional and had talked her through every step of the way whilst she was trying to get 
guardianship of her grandson.  Also re Alison Steele from Carlton Road Services who had 
carried out a parenting assessment on her son and had been incredibly supportive, gave 
great advice and was lovely.

CSD/0094-17 08/09/2017 11:41 South Lakeland + Barrow Email rec'd from CCC Solicitor re Kaz Zaboklicki (SW): "Counsel has passed on - please 
thank Kaz for his excellent work on this case - he was a pleasure to work with."

CSD/0098-17 14/09/2017 09:45 South Lakeland + Barrow EXTERNAL: Email from foster agency re Lauren Penney (SW): I would like to thank Lauren 
Penney for all of her hard work supporting xxx and our agency carers xxx.   Since working 
with  Lauren  she has remained available to the carers  for advice and guidance regarding  
contact, health, education, safe caring and risk management  via the telephone/ e-mail and 
text or face to face at the  placement address which the agency appreciates has required her 
to travel regularly  to the North East. When communicating with xxx, Lauren has always 
provided the carers with her full  attention, took  time to understand the points they have made 
and asked  questions as appropriate. Lauren's  professional approach has supported xxx to  
identify any problems experienced by the siblings and enabled the carers to review related 
information, develop and evaluate options and implement solutions whenever possible. I feel 
that Lauren's  measured and considered response towards the siblings needs and those of 
the  carers  has  demonstrated an empathetic and insightful attitude towards the role of 
fostering. I believe that Lauren's understanding nature has instilled a sense of confidence in 
both siblings and carers that they will be listened  to and supported  no matter what the 
circumstances.  xxx have both commented on Lauren's ability to effectively communicate and 
listen to  themselves and the siblings  which has improved the collaboration process. Lauren 
has continued to be available to myself and the agency for information sharing which has 
supported informed decision making throughout the siblings  placement. Lauren's 
conscientious attitude has  helped xxx  to support the siblings integration to a new schools  
and transfer to mainstream education,  form friendships, be involved in stimulating activities, 
make sensible decisions and remain healthy.  I feel that observations of Lauren's interactions 
with the siblings reflects the LASW's   ability to form a trusting and open  relationship where 
the older child has been comfortable using the LASW as a confident to share any problems he 
may have which have been addressed.  Lauren has  ensured that whenever required, 
referrals for the siblings to more specialist services has taken place to improve the social and 
psychological functioning  of the young people and she has continued to  demonstrate her 
support for the carers and the siblings whose  situation and position she has always 
represented and promoted."

CSD/0100-17 18/09/2017 10:07 Carlisle + Eden EXTERNAL: Letter from Children's Guardian CAFCASS re Terry Preston (SW): "...Despite the 
difficulties that were encountered at the commencement of these proceedings a good 
outcome has been achieved for both children.. The allocated Social Worker Terry Preston 
established good working relationships with all invovled and in my view this contributed 
signficantly to XXX's parents not actively opposing the Final Orders and led to a swifter 
resolution for XXX."

4 Row(s)
Total 14 Row(s)

36



37



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 18 December 2017

From: Corporate Director - Children and Families 
Services

School Attainment Data 2017

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide the Board with a summary of 2017 school attainment for the main 
indicators that Scrutiny had shown a previous interest in looking at.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To note progress in attainment for 2017.

2.2 To consider the referral from Scrutiny Performance Working Group about 
holding a deep dive to look at the 2017 performance information in greater 
detail in the new year. This would be as a one off meeting that would report 
back into Scrutiny Performance Working Group.

3.0 Background

3.1 In September the Board received a pre-validation overview of attainment 
which identified a number of improvements, especially in relation to 
disadvantaged pupils. 

3.2 Based on the 2016 attainment data Scrutiny Performance Working Group 
held a deep dive in spring 2017 and made a referral to Scrutiny Advisory 
Board – Children and Young People to carry out a similar analysis of the 
2017. 

3.3 The information provided in the current report provides a summary overview 
of attainment data. A separate meeting would be required to look at the data 
in greater depth, and the current information provides the Board with an 
opportunity to consider what lines of enquiry it may wish to pursue. 

39

Agenda Item 7



Dan Barton, Assistant Director Learning and Inclusion
18 December 2017

Appendices

No appendices.

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

Background Papers

 No background papers.

Contact: Dan Barton, dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk

40

mailto:dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk


Target value or 
date  

R
A

G
 (a

ga
in

st
 ta

rg
et

)

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 tr
av

el
 

(im
pr

ov
in

g/
 s

us
ta

in
ed

/d
ec

lin
in

g)

R
at

e/
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e

V
ar

ia
nc

e 
fro

m
 ta

rg
et

G
oo

d 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 is

Ta
rg

et
 2

01
7/

18

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

6/
17

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

5/
16

S
N

 2
01

6/
17

N
at

io
na

l 2
01

6/
17

Commentary

% of 5 year olds 
achieving at least 
the expected 
'Good Level of 
Development' in 
the Early Years 
Foundation Stage G ↑

68.5%
(AY 

16/17)
-3.11% High

No 
greater 
than 1 
%age 

points diff 
with 

national 
(AY 

16/17)

68.5% 
(AY 

16/17)

64.9% 
(AY 

15/16)

70.1% 
(AY 

15/16)

70.7% 
(AY 

16/17)

The summer 2017 result is 
68.5%, compared to the 
national result 70.7%. This is 
an improvement from the 
summer 2016 result, and the 
difference compared to the 
national 'Good Level of 
Development' has reduced to 
2 percentage points. Results 
are provisional as of 
September 2017. NB - results 
are as at end of academic 
year.

Track pupil level 
performance and 
provide targeted 
interventions 
where schools are 
indicating 
underperformance 
against target

The proportion of 
pupils achieving at 
least expected 
standard in 
reading, writing 
and maths at KS2 
is at least in line 
with national 
figures 

G ↑
61.1% 

(AY 
16/17)

0.00% High
61.1% 

(AY 
16/17)

61.1% 
(AY 

16/17)

51.3% 
(AY 

15/16)

51.1% 
(AY 

15/16)

61.1% 
(AY 

16/17)

The summer 2017 results 
were in line with the national 
result (also 61.1%), and an 
improvement of 10 percentage 
points on the 2016 results. 
Results are provisional as of 
September 2017. NB - Results 
are as at end of academic 
year. 

41



Target value or 
date  

R
A

G
 (a

ga
in

st
 ta

rg
et

)

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 tr
av

el
 

(im
pr

ov
in

g/
 s

us
ta

in
ed

/d
ec

lin
in

g)

R
at

e/
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e

V
ar

ia
nc

e 
fro

m
 ta

rg
et

G
oo

d 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 is

Ta
rg

et
 2

01
7/

18

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

6/
17

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

5/
16

S
N

 2
01

6/
17

N
at

io
na

l 2
01

6/
17

Commentary

Attainment 8  - 
average score 
based on the 
attainment of 
pupils across 8 
GCSE or 
equivalent 
qualifications 

Calculated score 
of 8 GCSEs 
meeting the 
criteria in the 
Attainment8 
measure

G -
45.9
(AY 

16/17)

-0.2 
(AY 

16/17)
High 46.1 (AY 

16/17)
45.9 AY 
(16/17)

49.0 AY 
(15/16)

49.4 
(AY 

15/16)

46.1 
(AY 

16/17)

Summer 2017 provisional 
results are now available.  
Attainment 8 calculations have 
changed between 2016 and 
2017 and values between the 
two years cannot be directly 
compared.  Cumbria's 
provisional result of 45.9 is 
equivalent to the national 
result of 46.1. NB - results are 
as at end of academic year.

42



Target value or 
date  

R
A

G
 (a

ga
in

st
 ta

rg
et

)

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 tr
av

el
 

(im
pr

ov
in

g/
 s

us
ta

in
ed

/d
ec

lin
in

g)

R
at

e/
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e

V
ar

ia
nc

e 
fro

m
 ta

rg
et

G
oo

d 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 is

Ta
rg

et
 2

01
7/

18

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

6/
17

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

5/
16

S
N

 2
01

6/
17

N
at

io
na

l 2
01

6/
17

Commentary

Progress 8  - 
average score of 
progress made 
from end of KS2 
to end of KS4 

Score centred 
around 0. 
Negative number 
indicates pupils 
achieving lower 
progress than 
their peers with 
same KS2 
attainment eg -
0.25 means 
pupils achieve a 
quarter of a 
grade lower than 
their peers

R -
-0.14
(AY 

16/17)

-366 
(AY 

16/17)
High -0.03 (AY 

16/17)
-0.14 (AY 

16/17)
-0.23 (AY 

15/16)

-0.05 
(AY 

15/16)

-0.03 
(AY 

16/17)

Summer 2017 provisional 
results are now available.  
Progress 8 calculations have 
changed between 2016 and 
2017 and values between the 
two years cannot be directly 
compared.  Cumbria's 
provisional result of -0.14 is 
below the national figure for all 
state schools of -0.03. As 
figures are extremely small, 
variance from target 
percentages can be both 
extreme and highly volatile.  
NB - results are as at end of 
academic year.

The percentage of 
pupils achieving 
grades 4-9 in 
GCSE English & 
maths (A*-C 
grades in 2016)

G ↑
65.2
(AY 

16/17)

+2.7% 
(AY 

16/17)
High

63.5% 
(AY 

16/17)

65.2% 
(AY 

16/17)

63.3% 
(AY 

15/16)

62.8% 
(AY 

15/16)

63.5% 
(AY 

16/17)

Summer 2017 provisional 
results are now available.  
Cumbria's provisional result of 
65.2% is above the national 
figure for all state schools of 
63.5%. NB - results are as at 
end of academic year.

43



Target value or 
date  

R
A

G
 (a

ga
in

st
 ta

rg
et

)

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 tr
av

el
 

(im
pr

ov
in

g/
 s

us
ta

in
ed

/d
ec

lin
in

g)

R
at

e/
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e

V
ar

ia
nc

e 
fro

m
 ta

rg
et

G
oo

d 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 is

Ta
rg

et
 2

01
7/

18

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

6/
17

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

5/
16

S
N

 2
01

6/
17

N
at

io
na

l 2
01

6/
17

Commentary

The percentage of 
pupils achieving 
the English 
Baccalaureate 
(KS4)

R ↓
19.7
(AY 

16/17)

-16.8% 
(AY 

16/17)
High

23.7% 
(AY 

16/17)

19.7% 
(AY 

16/17)

22.4% 
(AY 

15/16)

21.5% 
(AY 

15/16)

23.7% 
(AY 

16/17)

Summer 2017 provisional 
results are now available.  
Cumbria's provisional result of 
19.7% is below the national 
figure for all state schools of 
23.7%. NB - results are as at 
end of academic year.

Disadvantaged @ 
Key Stage 1 - 
Improve national 
attainment levels 
in Reading, 
Writing and Maths 
from 37% to 50%. 
by July 2017

R ↑
42.9%

(AY 
16/17)

-
14.20% High 50%

37.7% 
(AY 

15/16)
- -

46.3% 
(AY 

15/16)

The summer 2017 results 
were 42.9% which is an 
improvement on 2016 results, 
but 5.8 percentage points 
below their national peers 
summer 2017 result (48.7%).  
Results are provisional as of 
September 2017. NB - results 
are as at end of academic 
year. 

 

Disadvantaged @ 
Key Stage 2 
Improve national 
attainment levels 
in Reading, 
Writing and Maths 
from 34% to 44%. 
by July 2017

G ↑
48.2%

(AY 
16/17)

+9.55% High 44% 35% (AY 
15/16) - -

39% 
(AY 

15/16)

The Summer 2017 results 
(48.2%) were a substantial 
improvement on 2016 results, 
and better than the national 
results for this pupil group 
(46.7%). Results are 
provisional as of September 
2017. NB - results are as at 
end of academic year. 

44



Target value or 
date  

R
A

G
 (a

ga
in

st
 ta

rg
et

)

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 tr
av

el
 

(im
pr

ov
in

g/
 s

us
ta

in
ed

/d
ec

lin
in

g)

R
at

e/
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e

V
ar

ia
nc

e 
fro

m
 ta

rg
et

G
oo

d 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 is

Ta
rg

et
 2

01
7/

18

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

6/
17

C
um

br
ia

 2
01

5/
16

S
N

 2
01

6/
17

N
at

io
na

l 2
01

6/
17

Commentary

Disadvantaged @ 
Key Stage 4  -  
from 36% to 47% 
achieving level 
(grade) 4+ in both 
English and Maths 
by July 2017

R ↑
40.5%

(AY 
16/17)

-
16.00% High 47.00%

40.5% 
(AY 

16/17)

35.7% 
(AY 

15/16)
-

43.2% 
(AY 

15/16)

The Summer 2017 results 
(40.5% achieving grades 4-9 
in English & Maths) were a 
substantial improvement on 
2016 results. Results are 
provisional as of October 
2017. NB - results are as at 
end of academic year. 

45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Educational Attainment 2017 for Scrutiny

1.0 PURPOSE OF PAPER

1.1 This paper provides information to Scrutiny about pupil outcomes for all key 
stages for Cumbria in 2017.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 In 2016, pupil outcomes for Cumbria in all key stages were lower than 
national outcomes, with particular issues relating to a widening gap in the 
proportion of pupils achieving a good level of development (GLD) in the Early 
Years, the performance of disadvantaged pupils in all key stages, a dip in 
attainment in Key Stage 2, particularly in writing, and progress at Key Stage 4.  

2.2 The CASL plan for improvement was completely revised in autumn 2016, led 
by the Learning Improvement Service to ensure a much greater focus on pupil 
achievement, with more measurable key performance indicators.  Data sets, 
data sharing and pupil outcome forecasting have been significantly improved 
and actions have been driven by CASL priority groups.  This has had a 
positive impact on pupil achievement in 2017, with recognition across the 
CASL partnership that this improvement needs to be sustained throughout the 
three year period of the CASL plan.

2.3 During the academic year 2016-2017, there were a total of 82 Ofsted 
inspections in Cumbria.  Outcomes have been monitored closely by CASL 
and outcomes overwhelmingly matched predictions, with exceptions being 
linked to safeguarding judgements.  The degree to which all schools are 
known to be fully Ofsted ready is currently being evaluated, particularly for 
light touch schools in the county.

3.0 PUPIL OUTCOMES

Early Years
3.1 In Early Years, Foundation Stage Profile headline results show that the 

proportion achieving a ‘good level of development’ has increased from 65% to 
69% in Cumbria.  Nationally, the proportion achieving the benchmark has 
increased from 69% to 71%.

2013
% 

GLD

2014
% 

GLD

2015
% 

GLD

2016
% 

GLD

2017
% 

GLD

Cumbria 49.7 58.6 62.8 64.9 69

National 51.7 60.4 66.3 69.3 71

Cumbria/National 
Difference -2.0 -1.8 -3.5 -4.4 -2

47



3.2  Cumbria has increased at a faster rate than the national and has narrowed the 
gap this year, reversing a widening gap trend.  The CASL plan target for year 
two is to achieve outcomes in line with the national in 2018.

Key Stage 1

3.3 In Phonics, 79% of pupils achieved the standard, compared with 81% 
nationally.

3.4 Key Stage 1 (KS1) results have improved for all subjects between 2016 and 
2017.  The reading, writing and maths combined results have improved by 9% 
(up from 51% to 60%).  The largest individual subject increase was in writing – 
up from 57% to 64%.  Nationally, results have improved in all subjects as well, 
but not as significantly as in Cumbria.  Cumbria has narrowed the gap to the 
national in all subjects.

3.5 Cumbria is still below the national in all subjects in KS1.  For reading, writing 
and maths, Cumbria’s results are 4% below those of the country as a whole, 
for reading they are 2% below, for writing 4% below and for maths 2% points 
below.

3.6 The disadvantaged gap in Key Stage 1 is higher in all areas than the national 
gap (see Key Stage 1 table 2).

Key Stage 1 table 1

Cumbria 2016-2017 National 2016-2017

All 
Pupils
2016

All 
Pupils
2017

Change
2016-
2017

All Pupils
2016

All 
Pupils 
2017

Change
2016-
2017

Reading, Writing, 
Maths Combined 

#
51.3 59.5 +8.2 60.3 63.7 +3.4

Reading 69.2 73.3 +4.1 74.0 75.5 +1.5

Writing 56.7 64.2 +7.5 65.5 68.2 +2.7

Mathematics 66.6 72.8 +6.2 72.6 75.1 +2.5

48



Key Stage 1 table2

Cumbria Disadvantaged Gap 2017

Cumbria 
Disadvantaged

2017

National Non-
Disadvantaged

2017

Cumbria 
Difference to 
National Non-

Disadvantaged

National 
Difference to 

Non-
Disadvantaged

All subjects 
(RWM) 42.9 67.3 -24.4 -18.6

Reading 58.0 78.8 -20.8 -16.0

Writing 47.3 71.7 -24.4 -17.9

Mathematics 56.1 78.4 -22.3 -16.5

49



Key Stage 2

3.7 On the main measure of percentage achieving the expected standards in 
reading, writing and maths, 61.1% achieved the benchmark in Cumbria - 
equivalent to the country as a whole (61.1%).  This is a significant 
improvement from last year – up 10% compared to an 8% increase nationally.  
Reading test results in Cumbria (73.3%) exceed those of the country as a 
whole (71.5%) by nearly 2 percentage points.  Cumbria increased by 5 points 
and the national by 6 points.

3.8 The writing results have improved substantially over the year and now exceed 
the national by 0.8 percentage points.  Cumbria’s results increased by 7.2 
points compared with a national increase of just 2.4 points.

3.9 Maths test results were lower in Cumbria (73.5%) than nationally (74.9%) by 
1.4 percentage points.  However, results in Cumbria increased by 6.3 points 
over the year compared with 5.1 points nationally.

3.10 Spelling, punctuation & grammar results in Cumbria (75.8%) were also below 
national (76.9%), by 1 percentage point.  However, as with maths, the rate of 
improvement in Cumbria (+5.6 points) was above the national (+4.4 points).

3.11 Girls outperformed boys in all subjects apart from maths, where the results 
were equivalent.  As with KS1, the largest gap was for writing (70.5% for boys 
and 84.4% for girls).

3.12 Progress in reading in Cumbria between KS1 and KS2 is equivalent to the 
national progress.  However, there is a discrepancy between the progress of 
boys (-0.2) and girls (+0.2).  Progress in writing in Cumbria is also broadly 
equivalent to the national (+0.09).  This is a significant improvement on last 
year’s progress score (-0.91).  The discrepancy between boys and girls is 
more marked for writing than for reading (-0.7 for boys and +1.0 for girls).

3.13 Maths progress in Cumbria (-0.76) is, however, below the national and is 
equivalent to the progress score from last year (-0.88).  The progress for boys 
is equivalent to the national, whereas last year it was below, but the progress 
for girls this year is -1.57, compared with -1.41 in 2016.

50



3.14 The proportion of disadvantaged pupils achieving the expected standard 
increased significantly in all subjects over the last year.  On the combined 
measure of reading, writing and maths, the disadvantaged pupils achieving 
the benchmark increased from 35.0% to 48.2%, up by 13.2 percentage points.  
Although there were increases in the performance of disadvantaged pupils 
nationally in all subjects, the rate of increase in Cumbria was greater than the 
national in all cases. This means that, in 2017, disadvantaged pupils now 
outperform their national peers in all subjects, but particularly in reading (3% 
higher).

Key Stage 4

3.16 Provisional results from the DfE show that the proportion of children achieving 
passes in English (Grade 4+ under the 2017 system and Grade C+ under last 
year’s system) has increased for both all pupils (up from 73.8% to 76.6%) 
and, particularly, for disadvantaged pupils (up from 47% to 56.7%).  For Maths 
at C+/Grade 4+, the increase is lower (up from 69.7% last year to 71.0 % this 
year for all pupils, and up from 43.0% to 47.3% for disadvantaged pupils).

3.17 For English, the proportion achieving higher grades increased by nearly 3 
percentage points for all pupils and over 4 percentage points for 
disadvantaged pupils.  For maths the proportion of all pupils achieving the 
higher grades is broadly similar to last year (up 0.8 percentage points) and the 
proportion of disadvantaged pupils has increased from 5% to 7.0%.

3.18 The proportion of all pupils achieving Grade 4+ or C+ in English & maths 
combined increased from 63.3% to 65.2% this year.  For disadvantaged 
pupils, the proportion achieving the benchmark increased substantially from 
35.7% to 40.5% (up 4.8 percentage points).   

51



A Level

3.19 The percentage of A’ Level students who achieved 1 or more (98%), 2 or 
more (95%) and 3 or more (87%) passes at Level 3 and equivalent grades is 
broadly the same as in 2016. 

3.20 For A’ Level qualifications only, those achieving one or more passes at grades 
A*-E was 92% (slightly down on last year’s figure of 95%). The percentage of 
A’ Level entries graded at A*-B and A*-E grades is also slightly below last 
year’s figure.

Key Priorities for further improvement

 To further improve the percentage of pupils achieving a good level of 
development in the early years so that Cumbria is in line with the national

 To accelerate achievement in Key Stage 1
 To further diminish disadvantaged differences in all key Stages
 To address regional variations in GCSE outcomes, with a particular focus on 

Western Coastal area
 To improve the progress made by girls in mathematics in the primary phase

52



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 18 December 2017

From: Corporate Director Children and Families 
Services

Review of Alternative Provision 

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To engage the Board in pre-scrutiny of proposals to establish new 
Alternative Provision in Cumbria.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 Scrutiny to provide pre-scrutiny of the proposals before they go to Cabinet. 

3.0 Background

3.1 In December 2016 Cumbria County Council’s Cabinet agreed the Inclusive 
Cumbria Strategy (2017-22). This set out a number of proposals for 
transforming the Council’s approach to ensuring all children regardless of 
academic ability have the best possible education and support. 

3.2 A key part of the strategy focuses on Alternative Provision (AP) and this 
paper sets out a number of approaches that the Council is engaging with 
partners on, prior to taking a paper to Cabinet in March 2018 (a definition of 
the kinds of learner AP is aimed at is set out in 4.1 below).

3.3 While the main focus of engagement is on AP, the Council is also looking at 
exploring the how a review of AP would help create the basis for a more 
joined up system linking through to Resourced Provision (RP), provision in 
Special Schools, and Pupil Referral Units (PRUs).

3.4 In brief outline the key issues covered in this paper are: 

 what AP ‘looks’ like, where it will be, how it would be funded; 

 likely levels of need, management and accountability arrangements;

 links with PRUs, proposed impact for young people, and other 
considerations relating to the wider Inclusion agenda.

53

Agenda Item 8



4.0 What would the proposed AP look like?

4.1 AP in Cumbria will represent a genuine alternative curriculum offer and 
educational experience for children and young people who are unable, for 
academic, social or emotional reasons, to access the curriculum in 
mainstream schools. 

4.2 The model for AP will be a ‘blended’ curriculum, giving focus to core subjects 
(English and Maths), with an additional, personalised offer of foundation 
academic subjects, vocational courses, apprenticeships, work-related 
learning, off-site placement, physical and outdoor education. The option to 
blend the curriculum with some access to mainstream school specialist 
provision will be considered.  Assessment will comprise a bespoke package 
of existing accreditations (GCSE, BTEC, Functional Skills, ASDAN, CoPE), 
across Foundation level to Level 3. The curriculum for each child or young 
person will be produced subject to a rigorous baseline assessment of ability, 
potential and need.

4.3 Jointly commissioned teachers of foundation subjects will function on a semi-
peripatetic basis in order to deliver economies of scale between settings (i.e. 
split across two sites to gain economies of scale). The responsibility for this 
commissioning arrangement will sit with clusters of schools.

4.4 Students with different and potentially contra-indicated types of need will 
work in separate classes or streams as appropriate (Social Emotional and 
Mental Health needs (SEMH) or highly anxious symptoms). There is 
potential for this type of provision to be developed further. The west of the 
county currently operates a model in which ten SEMH places are 
commissioned for young people with very demanding behaviour needs 
which we would seek to replicate. This approach would be applied 
judiciously, with a regard to individual needs and ‘best fit’.

4.5 Importance will be given to high quality Information Advice and Guidance 
(IAG), which will be delivered by specialist advisors drawn from those 
already commissioned by Cumbria County Council as well as directly 
employed officers. This service will link closely with employment, 
apprenticeship and higher and further education providers in order to provide 
genuine viable routes into education and/or employment for young people at 
the appropriate age or stage (i.e. Key Stage 4 and above). Destinations will 
be rigorously tracked and analysed. It is noted that, whilst IAG of this type 
will focus on the older student, it is envisaged that provision for IAG will also 
be made from at least Year 8, in line with statutory duties, and below. The 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) are very interested in how they can 
support IAG and Work Related Learning (WRL) curriculum in our AP by 
brokering support from partners in industry.

4.6 Pupils will be educated in small classes (max 7/8), and will be taught by 
specialist teachers in all subject areas, who are experienced in working with 
young people who are vulnerable and/or who have additional learning or 
emotional needs.

54



4.7 Whenever possible, AP settings will include an on-site outside space, and 
will capitalise on opportunities for outdoor learning experiences.

4.8 AP and PRU settings will benefit from a ‘Team Around the PRU’ (TAP) 
model for delivering support services to young people in-situ, linking closely 
with Early Help, Social Care, Virtual School, CAMHS, Young Persons’ Drug 
and Alcohol Service, LA Specialist Advisory Teacher service, Learning 
Improvement Service and carrying out detailed casework panels on a two-
weekly basis.

4.9 Principals and centre-managers will maintain close links with ‘home’ schools, 
satisfying the requirement to report regularly on progress and attendance as 
described in statutory guidance for AP (2014)

4.10 A very robust and centrally administered admissions protocol will be 
observed and adhered to in order to manage access to PRUs and AP, 
pushing back on schools where necessary, and advising on next steps for 
support (including outreach). This will comprise professional staff deployed 
through the TAP, who will provide support in managing vulnerable children’s 
needs in the school in the first instance, and who will monitor schools’ 
implementation of agreed levels of support. The finite nature of the provision 
and this robust process will minimise the risk of inappropriate admissions to 
AP and help to counter the perception that some schools might seek to 
abdicate responsibility by sending pupils to AP.

4.11 The Learning Improvement Service will lead on quality assurance and 
development of leadership capacity in the system through CASL.

4.12 All AP settings will automatically be members of CASL.

5.0 Where would the AP be sited?

5.1 There are a variety of different models for where AP will be situated. These 
are: 

i) Vacant and refurbished LA property

ii) Possible new-build

iii) Modular provision on existing LA property

5.2 Suitable properties will be identified which could be repurposed as 
educational settings via capital investment. 

5.3 In the west area, provision already exists along a similar model at Richmond 
House. This is in a building which is currently not fit for purpose. A further 
site or extension to existing provision would be developed to allow for the 
need to have separate streams for different profiles of learner need.

5.4 New builds could fulfil the same function, but would clearly involve a much 
higher financial risk, and would also take longer to bring on-line than 
renovating existing properties.

55



5.5 Indicative costs for creation and siting of modular builds for AP of the desired 
size would come in at approximately £2.7m per setting. The viability of this 
option would be dependent on an appropriate site. 

5.6 Geographical location of provision would reflect the concentration of need 
around the three main conurbations in the north, west and south of the 
county. 

5.7 Buildings would provide two ‘half-sized’ classrooms, which would normally 
cater to groups of 15, which would provide a larger amount of ‘per-pupil’ 
space for the maximum 7/8 per class. Basic classrooms would be multi-
purpose and configurable to a variety of purposes, with specialist provision 
(science lab/music lab/art rooms – two per setting) being either fitted out at 
the point of build, or scope for shared use of existing facilities would be 
explored at reduced cost.

5.8 A further option exists as an idea in its infancy, but with the potential to 
resolve a number of issues – a Local Authority Inclusion Multi Academy 
Trust (MAT). If approved, we would consult on the plan to create a MAT 
sponsored by the LA which would encompass PRUs, Special Schools, AP 
and would also administer Resourced Provision. This would allow for 
buildings to be sourced and populated in the first instance in the short term 
(wave 1), catering to immediate need, with provisions joining the MAT once 
created (wave 2), subject to endorsement by the Regional Schools 
Commissioner. Immediate concerns around loss of capital investment to 
academies would also be mitigated by this proposal.

6.0 How will it be funded?

6.1 Buildings provided by the Local Authority would be made pupil-ready 
through the dispensation of LA Capital funding as described above. Request 
to add £1.5M to 2018-2019 financial year capital programme spend for AP 
will come to Cabinet in February. Prudential borrowing for this spend is 
already committed – so no new borrowing will be required.

6.2 Revenue and running costs would be funded on a subscription basis from all 
schools across the county who would pay-in via an annual de-delegation 
arrangement, regardless of uptake, indemnifying themselves against the 
need to use AP. This is a new approach for the County Council and for 
schools. CASL would be instrumental in selling the idea and garnering 
support.

6.3 Commissioning AP is the responsibility of the school, as per statutory 
guidance for AP 2014. Given the scale of need, and the number of schools, 
actual de-delegated amounts should be comparatively small, and certainly 
less than the amount which would normally be spent by schools on 
commissioning AP independently if they were discharging their statutory 
duties. Further, schools would benefit from the removal of risk associated 
with unknown and unpredictable costs for AP. The nature of a flat rate 
contribution from year to year would help with setting balanced budgets.

56



6.4 A similar model had been in use in the west of the county around 15 years 
ago, but fell apart due to unsustainability – the de-delegated subscription 
only purchased the right to commission, rather than the full costs, with 
balance payable on entry – running costs and staff salaries were not able to 
be sustained due to the fluctuations in uptake.

6.5 Exact calculations relating to running costs will be available following a full 
technical consultation, although indications of the per/pupil per/year 
subscription, based on the currently successful model at Richmond House is 
£22K – which would be met by schools’ contributions to the revenue budget.

6.6 The LA Inclusion MAT option is more sustainable in terms of revenue costs 
since children and young people attending an AP setting as part of the MAT 
would effectively be attending a registered special school, and would attract 
separate funding. This would be drawn down from central government as 
new money, rather than stretching already highly-pressured school budgets.

6.7 Students attending LA MAT AP would be single-roll registered at the AP 
setting after a trial period in which they would be dual roll, and would be 
manage-moved into the provision through an agreed protocol. This would 
allow for earlier intervention, and a meaningful educational experience with 
positive outcomes, rather than last-minute permanent exclusion. 

6.8 Placing young people of significant need in a bespoke AP setting would 
reduce pressure on existing PRUs, whose Number on Roll (NOR) all exceed 
Published Admission Number (PAN) and would allow those institutions to 
function properly and discharge their brief as short-term, rehabilitative 
support, as opposed to long-term, AP. Wherever possible, existing expertise, 
human resources and relationships nurtured in the PRU environment over 
years would be drawn upon to inform, train and support AP delivery.

7.0 What is the likely need in terms of pupil numbers?

7.1 The AP census at the time of the PLASC return in January 2017 indicates 
approximately 180 pupils attending Alternative Provision for the academic 
year 16/17.

7.2 The number of referrals in the south of the county significantly outweighs 
that of the north and west (South 82, North 52, West 21). This mirrors 
existing provision, rather than accurately measuring need.

7.3 Whilst there is clearly need in the south, this figure is not an accurate 
measure of need. It only measures declared use. In fact, there is ‘hidden’ 
need throughout the system, notably in PRUs.

7.4 PRU Head Teachers indicate that around 25 pupils per centre are better-
suited to an AP curriculum. In many cases, these young people have been 
on the roll of the PRU for years; which is hugely dispiriting for the pupils, and 
distracts from the primary function of PRUs.

57



7.5 Adding these figures, gives a total, including census, of (3x25 = 75) +180 = 
255 places across the county in a fairly even split.

7.6 This estimate of need is still inaccurate. Broad estimates of need from Head 
Teachers suggest that further need is ‘hidden’ by schools who are trying to 
‘contain’ students whose needs will not allow them to access the mainstream 
curriculum, which has narrowed significantly over recent years, and 
deepened in content by crudely around 30%.

7.7 Actual need is likely to sit between 300 and 400 places across the county, 
from a school population of around 61,000 – i.e. approximately 0.5% of the 
population, with the majority in secondary, of which a further majority at KS4.

7.8 Based on the principle of small settings, we might look to create a total of 6 
AP settings across the county, of which roughly half will concentrate on 
provision for young people with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) 
needs, often manifesting in violent, aggressive or anti-social behaviours. The 
remaining half would be developed as more nurturing settings, targeted at 
young people whose needs were more in relation to school-refusal or 
anxiety.

7.9 Current out of county AP projections stand at £3,119,844 for the year 17/18. 
Any cost-reductions against this spend (incurred by schools) would be in the 
form of opportunity costs, reducing pressure on schools’ budgets under the 
wave 2 proposal for LA MAT.

8.0 Who will manage the provision?

8.1 In the wave 1 model, current PRU heads will first oversee AP settings in their 
area, with a single named LA officer responsible for the executive oversight. 
PRU heads already have the currency and contextual expertise to do this.

8.2 Subsequently, an AP principal would be recruited (funded from de-delegated 
revenue funds) to manage AP across each cluster in multiple sites – starting 
with 6 initially (2 in each area). The AP Principal in the wave 1 model could 
be a current PRU head acting up to the executive role.

8.3 Longer-term, in wave 2, with the inception and development of the LA MAT, 
an appointment to the role of Executive Head for the trust will be appointed 
by the LA to line manage area principals and AP Head Teachers in each of 
the eventual settings. This Executive Head would manage principals and 
head teachers in all AP settings, PRUs, Special Schools as well as taking 
responsibility for co-ordinating Resourced Provision.

8.4 Timescales for wave 1 would potentially allow for AP placements to become 
available for some in September 2018. The start date would be predicated 
on quality appointments, however. Wave 2 LA MAT timescales are likely to 
be longer, and are centred on consultation and subsequent approval from 
the RSC.

9.0 How do the proposals link in with the PRUs?

58



9.1 PRU heads will be instrumental in admissions, triage and placement review. 
They will lead on curriculum design, exploiting existing expertise, and 
capitalising on existing relationships with mainstream head teachers and 
opportunities for outreach and in-school support for those at risk of 
exclusion.

9.2 An evidence-led Risk of Exclusion Indicator (ROEI) tool will be developed to 
enable ‘at risk’ pupils to be identified through existing data collection and 
context. This will be used to link with the Early Help system to diagnose 
need and target support earlier.

9.3 The wider Team Around the PRU (TAP) will be involved in 2-weekly 
inclusive casework and admissions panels comprising Virtual School, Early 
Help, Health, CAMHS, CSC. 

9.4 Robust challenge and support will be provided by PRU heads to ‘excluding’ 
schools, utilising outreach capacity and the LA Learning Improvement 
Service (LIS).

9.5 In liaison with OFSTED regional lead, the Council will ensure existing 
success criteria for AP settings, focusing on destinations in Year 11, quality 
of curriculum offer, IAG and academic outcomes appropriate for need are 
properly used.

9.6 The proper function of PRUs as ‘short stay’ settings will be re-established. 
This will mean that with AP curriculum and support being delivered in the 
new AP settings, PRUs will be able to concentrate work around assessment, 
intervention, rehabilitation and return to mainstream education for its 
constituents.

9.7 Home and Hospital Tuition Service (HHTS) function would continue to be 
delivered as-is, with the PRU keeping the primary organisational oversight. 
The opportunity to revisit the council’s HHTS policy to ensure legal 
compliance within the new system would be sought.

10.0 Intended outcomes for young people and communities

10.1 Young People attending AP in Cumbria will do academically better than if 
they had not had access to the service.

10.2 Reduced exclusions from school will contribute to an increased sense of 
belonging, improved self-esteem via the experience of success. This 
reduction in the experience of disenfranchisement will lead to higher rates of 
education and employment post 16 and post 18 and a reduced subsequent 
future demand on other public sector service areas.

10.3 Excellent, specialist IAG and support from the LEP will lead to genuine, 
sustainable career pathways (apprenticeships, incoming T levels for the 
more able pupils, work placements, increased uptake at higher and further 
education).

59



10.4 The TAP model results in better, earlier diagnosis of mental health or other 
needs and speedier access to integrated services, resulting in improved 
mental health, better uptake of Drug and Alcohol interventions, leading to 
reduced safeguarding risk and reduction in escalation and cost of need 
through the system at edge of care.

10.5 End of Key Stage review of placement at Inclusive Casework and 
Admissions Panel would allow for possibility of graduated return to 
mainstream of children at different stages.

10.6 AP settings would act as exam centres for young people accessing 
education through hospital and home education, creating a safe, familiar and 
appropriate environment for getting the best results in exams.

10.8 A possible school phase split between PRU and AP (primary and secondary 
respectively) would be considered – the rationale being that short-stay 
intervention in PRUs is more likely to be successful with younger pupils. This 
would result in better return to mainstream rates for PRUs than is currently 
the case.

11.0 Next Steps

11.1 This paper has been developed in conversation with key stakeholders in a 
series of pre-consultation conversations with CASH, PHA, Union 
representatives, PRU heads, Special School heads, school consortium 
groups heads of existing Resourced Provision, Local Authority officers in 
Early Help, Commissioning, Property and Capital Programme, Director of 
Children’s Services and Portfolio Holder.

11.1 If support is given the next steps will be to

i) Perform in-depth community and professional engagement study to enable 
clearer understanding of: 

• Need
• Parental appetite
• Head teachers’ appetite for both wave 1 and wave 2 funding 

models 
• Recruitment landscape
• (Existing) possibilities within the CCC estate
• Costing models
• LA MAT feasibility

ii) Draft a cabinet paper for submission in March 2018 requesting permission 
to commence tendering, recruitment and other necessary developments with 
a view to opening the first setting ready for intake in September 2018. 

12.0 Proposed milestones for delivering the project

60



12.1 The table below sets out the key milestones for delivery of the project. This 
is subject to the Cabinet decision and would result in a more detailed project 
plan. These are set out by academic year to give a high level overview.

School year Description

External engagement process begins

Work on policy, protocol, curriculum, LA support, cluster
funding models begins
Initial conversations with Regional Schools Commissioner

External engagement ends

Capital Programme submission in Cabinet paper

Key decision by Cabinet paper on proposals

Tenders for building work

Recruitment process begins for first site

Renovation work begins

Admissions service works with schools around targeting 
pupils

Recruitment process ends

Renovation process ends

2017-18

Renovation work on second site begins

Admissions service works with schools around targeting 
pupils for second site

First cohort starts work in first site

Recruitment process begins for second site

Recruitment process ends for second site

Renovation of second site complete

Second site opens to pupils

2018-19

GCSE results for first wave of pupils released

Three further sites developedYear 2019-20

GCSE results for second wave of pupils released

61



Case for creation of LA MAT presented to RSC

AP schools registered by DfE before end of year

AP schools open as LA MAT

Dan Barton, Assistant Director Learning and Inclusion
18 December 2017

Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

Appendices

No appendices.

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

Background Papers

 No background papers.

Contact: Dan Barton, dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk

62

mailto:dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk


SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 18 December 2017

From: Corporate Director Resources and 
Transformation

Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
Services – Government Green Paper 

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide the Board with details of the Government’s new Green Paper on 
mental health services for young people, and to seek the Board’s input to 
any response from Cumbria.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To consider the proposed changes and agree anything that Members would 
like to see addressed in a Cumbria response.

2.2 To consider the proposals against the background of the scrutiny task and 
finish review into CAMHS that took place in 2016. 

3.0 Background

3.1 Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services was 
published on 4 December 2017. The consultation period for the Green Paper 
lasts until 2 March 2018. In this paper the proposals are summarised, and 
the consultation document is attached as an appendix.

3.2 The Green paper sets out four main areas that the government intends to 
focus on in transforming mental health services:

 Every school and college to identify a senior lead to oversee their 
approach to mental health and wellbeing. Children and Young 
People’s (C+YP) mental health services should also identify a link for 
schools and colleges. This link will provide rapid advice, consultation 
and signposting.

 Funding for new mental health support teams, supervised by NHS 
mental health staff to provide specific extra capacity for early 
intervention and on-going help. Their work will be managed jointly by 

63

Agenda Item 9



schools, colleges and the NHS. These teams will be linked to groups 
of primary and secondary schools and to colleges providing 
interventions to support those with mild to moderate need and 
supporting the promotion of good health and wellbeing.

 A number of pilots for a four week waiting time for access to specialist 
CAMHS. 

 A member of staff in every primary and secondary school to receive 
mental health training.

3.3 The government intends that the new approach will be rolled out to between 
a fifth and a quarter of the country by the end of 2022/23. The plan will be to 
have in place a number of ‘trailblazers’ which will be operational by 2019. 
These will pilot the proposed approach, and will be supported by robust 
evaluation to understand what has been successful.

3.4 The further roll out of the programme will be determined by the success of 
the trailblazers and securing funding after 2020/21 (which is the end of the 
government’s current spending period).

4.0 National work underway in relation to the Green Paper

4.1 The Green Paper sets out the government’s ambition for mental health 
services for young people in the context of broader mental health support. 
The Green Paper summarises this in terms of the following projects and 
commitments:

 Additional £1.4Bn for children and young people’s mental health services 
with the aim of enabling 70,000 more children and young people to be seen 
by mental health services by 2021;

 Transformation programmes to support the delivery of between 150-180 new 
impatient beds with the aim of reducing the need for children and young 
people to travel out of area;

 Introduction of 70 new or enhanced Community Eating Disorder teams in 
place, these will cover the whole of England;

 NHS investment of £365M from 2015/16 to 2020/21 for services targeted at 
perinatal and pregnant women. This programme will aim to establish four 
new mental health mother and baby units opening over the next two years 
and an expansion of beds in a further 15 units. NHS England (NHSE) has 
also allocated £40M to date for specialist perinatal services with 20 new 
teams now in place;

 From 2018 the Department for Education (DfE) will also be piloting new 
approaches for Mental Health Assessments for Children Looked After (CLA) 
when they enter care, so their needs can be effectively identified; 

64



 In relation to children with SEND and mental health, the government 
commissioned a review into residential special schools and colleges. The 
key findings focus on improving support available in the community and 
ensuring that local areas have planned and commissioned provision 
strategically. In 2018 the government intends to publish a response and 
establish a national leadership board for children and young people with high 
needs.

 Plans to roll out a national programme of community based forensic children 
and young people’s mental health services targeted at young offenders 
across the country. The first of the new services has been rolled out across 
the North West in October 2017. 

 A review will be carried out and published in 2018 on children and young 
people’s mental health based on data for those aged 2-19. This will be the 
first of a programme of review every seven years. A survey will also be 
commissioned for care leavers and looked after children to understand need 
and inform service commissioning and staff training.

5.0 Proposals in more detail

5.1 A designated senior lead for mental health in very school and college: 
The role played by the lead will vary, taking into account such factors such 
as size of setting, the mix of other school professionals and the needs of 
pupils. Based on experience of existing practice, the care role of leads is 
likely to include:

 Oversight of the whole school approach to Mental Health;

 Supporting the identification of children at risk;

 Knowledge of local mental health services for making referrals;

 Overseeing the outcomes of interventions that impact on C+YPs 
education and wellbeing.

5.2 In supporting of this aim, the government intends to roll out training to all 
areas by 2025. Funding will be made available through a training fund to 
allow schools to choose an appropriate training course. The government will 
consult on the best way to distribute funding. As part of this, from 2019 the 
government will provide £15M – £20M to cover costs until all schools and 
colleges have had a chance to train a lead.

5.3 Mental Health Support teams to work with clusters of schools and 
colleges across the Country: The Green Paper proposes new Mental 
Health Support teams, supervised by NHS children and young people’s 
mental health services and will be required to link to groups of schools and 
colleges. Teams will work with the designated senior leads for mental health 
and provide new capacity locally for addressing the needs of children with 
mild and moderate mental health issues. This will also provide the link with 

65



more specialist NHS Mental Health services so children can access help 
more swiftly.

5.4 These teams will support existing provision in the local area by training other 
professionals to allow support to be offered in a large setting. The Green 
paper also highlights the services already provided by school nurses and 
how they would be expected to engage closely with new teams.

5.5 A new waiting time standard: This will be carried out on a phased basis 
through pilots described as trailblazers.

5.6 Provision will look very different in different areas, with the government 
stressing that a single model should not be implemented nationally. 
Implementation will be provided with the trailblazer model with trailblazers 
providing implementation support to other areas as additional resource is 
provided.

5.7 The Consultation on the Green Paper will seek views on the criteria that 
should be used to choose these areas. Trailblazers will also be tasked with 
examining how support teams can best support children and young people 
who are not in school, who are in gangs or those who are less likely to 
benefit from mainstream school based provision.

5.8 Funding for designated senior leaders will start in the 2019/20 financial year. 
Preparations for the roll out of Mental Health Support Staff will start from 
2018, expanding provision for the new mental health workforce. Trailblazers 
would begin delivery in 2019.

6.0 Wider programmes set out in the Green Paper

6.1 Schools and Colleges identifying and responding to need: The 
government are updating Mental Health and Wellbeing guidance to ensure it 
reflects the key messages about the importance of expectations on the 
school as a whole.

6.2 Mental Health Awareness Training: The government has introduced Youth 
Mental Health First Aid training to help teachers spot mental health issues. 
The Department for Health has provided £200,000 to fund 1000 places in 
2017/18 which translates to one third of all secondary schools in England. 
The government intends to build upon the programme so that one member 
of staff in every primary and secondary school receives the training.

6.3 Teacher Training Changes: A framework of content for individual teacher 
training was published by DfE in July 2016 which places emphasis on 
emotional development and mental health issues within personal 
development. 

6.4 The government will support the teacher training sector to develop practice, 
with the development of a mental health specific strand of the teaching and 
innovation fund that will support the delivery of whole school approaches.

66



6.5 Every child will learn more about Mental Health and Wellbeing: RSE 
and PSHE will include a specific focus on how mental health and wellbeing 
can support healthy relationships and how best to secure good quality 
teaching for all pupils through PSHE. The government will consult on draft 
statutory guidance on RSE and potentially PSHE.

6.6 Engaging parents, carers and pupils: The government has announced 
two sets of trials to the support the development of an evidence base on 
peer to peer support. From this, government will then consider how to best 
provide schools and colleges with the outcomes of these projects and a 
range of other pilots will be undertaken across the country.

6.7 The government will also review the existing requirements on schools to 
publish policies and information for parents and carers, so that it properly 
reflects the approach to mental health and wellbeing. 

6.8 Recognising what schools do and measuring impact: Ofsted is currently 
looking at evidence to inform the development of a new Common Inspection 
Framework for September 2019. This will be informed by CQC’s second 
phase of their thematic review of children and young people’s mental health 
services. This is expected in spring 2018. DfE will convene work to look at 
evidence of how schools and colleges can measure the impact of what 
actions they take to support mental health and wellbeing. 

6.9 Social Media and Internet Harm: The government’s Internet Strategy 
Green Paper sets out a position that emphasises internet safety, improving 
digital literacy and strengthening community support networks. The 
government is also working with the Children’s Commissioner, who is 
conducting work on the impact of social media on the lives of young people.

6.10 A number of government departments will also come together to convene a 
social media and digital sector companies group to explore what can be 
done by business to keep children and young people safe online. The Chief 
Medical Officer will also produce a report on the impact of technology on 
children and young people’s mental health.

6.11 Breaking Down Barriers - Tackling Stigma: The government has funded 
the Time to Change programme and by 2021 intends to have invested £31M 
on anti-stigma over five years. The Time to Change campaign has reached 
45 million adults and 750,000 children and young people. The government 
has also committed to invest £15M in an ambitious programme to train one 
million members of the public on basic mental health awareness, first aid 
and mental health literacy.

6.12 Promoting Positive Mental Health for all: Local authorities have a key role 
to play in leading partnership approaches to supporting good mental health 
for local populations, strengthen communications and creating healthy 
places. To help build an evidence base, Public Health England (PHE) will 
convene a special interest group which will bring together a number of 
professionals to identify key evidence and its relevance to practice. 
Recommendations will be made from the group for further research.

67



6.13 Families: In supporting families of children and young people who may 
develop mental health issues and looked after children or care leavers the 
government will commission further research into interventions that support 
parents and carers build better relationships with their children. As part of 
this, DWP will draw upon lessons learnt from their ‘local family offer’ trial and 
work with the troubled families programme in an attempt to reduce parental 
conflict.

6.14 The government will also encourage local areas to improve their local offer 
of support to families, to assist local authorities in their commissioning 
activity. From this, the government will work with ‘What Works Centres’ to 
publish and promote guidance for local areas to encourage evidence based 
commissioning of interventions based on supporting carers and parents. 

6.15 Support for Young adults: The government recognises that ongoing 
support into young adulthood is sometimes needed, with some areas already 
adjusting to a NHS model which supports Young People until 25. The 
government will draw upon findings of the CQC thematic review and data 
from the ‘comparison for quality and innovation’ to assess wherever further 
action is required to improve the experience and outcomes of transition.

6.16 Wider support for mental health of 16-25: Research shows that there is a 
growth in mental health issues in the Higher Education (HE) sector including 
mental health problems, mental distress and low wellbeing among students. 
The government want to support work currently been done with HE, FE and 
the wider training sector and work to improve mental health outcomes.

6.17 From this, the government will set up a new national strategic partnership 
with stakeholders focused on improving the mental health of 16-25 year olds 
by engaging more co-ordinated action, experimentation and robust 
evaluation. 

6.18 Supporting Young adults’ mental health in the work place: The 
government are also looking to consider how relevant employment support 
could be integrated with young people’s mental health services. They are 
looking to build upon the Stevenson / Farmer review of mental health 
wellbeing and employers. The report recommends that all employers 
regardless of size or industry should adopt ‘mental health care standards’ 
that lay a basic approach to workplace mental health. The standards are 
seen as a vehicle to encourage open culture and awareness as well as the 
means to monitor wellbeing and track progress. Large employers and the 
public sector are expected to go even further.

7.0 Summary of the Cumbria County Council Scrutiny Review of CAMHS

8.0 Conclusion

68



8.1 The Green Paper  sets out the government’s plans for children and young 
people’s mental health services. Members are therefore asked to note the 
proposals and help contribute into shaping Cumbria’s.

Joel Rasbash, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor
18 December 2017

Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

Appendices

No appendices.

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

Background Papers

 No background papers.

Contact: Dan Barton, dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk

69

mailto:dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Transforming Children 
and Young People’s 
Mental Health 
Provision: 
a Green Paper 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Presented to Parliament 
by the Secretary of State for Health and Secretary of State for Education 
by Command of Her Majesty 

 

 
 

December 2017 
 

Cm 9523 

71



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Transforming Children 
and Young People’s 
Mental Health Provision: 
a Green Paper 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Presented to Parliament by the Secretary of State for Health and Secretary of State for Education by  
Command of Her Majesty 
 
 
 
December 2017 
 
Cm 9525 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

72



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

© Crown copyright 2017 

 

This publication is licenced under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 
except where otherwise stated. To view this licence visit: 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 
 
Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned. 
 
Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at  
youngmentalhealth@dh.gsi.gov.uk 
 
ISBN 979-1-5286-0061-3 
 
Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum 
 
Printed in the UK by the APS Group on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s 
 

 
 

CCS1017156832 1 /17 

73

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:youngmentalhealth@dh.gsi.gov.uk


Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 1  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

 
 
 

Ministerial foreword ................................................................................................. 2 
 

Executive summary.................................................................................................. 3 
 

Chapter 1 - Case for action: the evidence .............................................................. 6 
 

Chapter 2 - Action already underway ................................................................... 11 
 

Chapter 3 - Working together to improve support for children and young 

people...................................................................................................................... 18 

Chapter 4 - Wider action to support children and young people ....................... 26 
 

Appendix A: Evidence review ............................................................................... 37 
 

Appendix B: Existing support for children and young people in schools and 

colleges ................................................................................................................... 40 
 

References .............................................................................................................. 45 

74



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 2  
 

 

Ministerial foreword 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All young people deserve the best start in life. But too often, young people with a mental 
health problem are not able to fulfil their potential. Mental ill-health costs individuals, and 
society, dearly. And we know that adults with mental ill-health are likely to have already 
experienced mental health problems in their childhood or adolescence. 

 
People with mental health problems have too often in the past experienced unfair 
discrimination and poor treatment. In recent years however, we have seen a welcome shift in 
attitudes to mental health. The Prime Minister and this Government have provided the 
leadership needed to correct this historic injustice and are committed to delivering and 

building upon the vision set out in Future in Mind.1  We are a major funder of anti-stigma 
initiatives. And we were among the first to legislate for ‘parity of esteem’ between mental and 
physical health. This means that in delivering health services, the two should be considered 
equally important. 

 
We are now investing more than ever before in mental health services, and a huge 
programme of work is underway to transform children and young people’s mental health 
services. Across the country there are many committed health staff working hard to improve 
care for children and young people with a mental health problem. In education too, many 
school and college leaders and staff are also giving real priority to supporting and promoting 
their students’ wellbeing and good mental health. There are great examples throughout the 
country where health services, education and children’s services, the voluntary sector and 
many others work together with families to support young people in being mentally well. 

 
However, in some cases, support from the NHS is only available when problems get really 
serious, is not consistently available across the country, and young people can sometimes 
wait too long to receive that support. Support for good mental health in schools and colleges 
is also not consistently available. This green paper therefore sets out an ambition for earlier 
intervention and prevention, a boost in support for the role played by schools and colleges, 
and better, faster access to NHS services, in order to fill these gaps and fulfil the 
commitments set out in our manifesto. We set out here specific proposals that represent a 
fundamental shift in how we will support all young people with their mental health, and we 
look forward to working with you in making these proposals a reality. 

 

 
 

The Rt Hon JUSTINE GREENING MP 
Secretary of State for Education 

The Rt Hon JEREMY HUNT MP 
Secretary of State for Health 

75



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 3  
 

 

Executive summary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We know that our mental health and wellbeing are vital to our ability to thrive and achieve. 
One in ten young people has some form of diagnosable mental health condition and we 
know that children with a mental health problem face unequal chances in their lives, 
particularly where childhood mental health issues continue into adulthood. 

 
As the Prime Minister has said, this is one of the burning injustices of our time. This 
Government is committed to ensuring our children and young people, and their families, get 
the support they need at the right time from the NHS, schools, colleges, local authorities and 
our dedicated partners in the voluntary sector. 

 
As part of this longstanding commitment, we have already laid strong foundations for a step- 
change in the quality and scale of support available through improving and expanding NHS 
mental health services for children and young people. 

 
To deliver on the ambitious vision set out in 2015’s Future in Mind and 2016’s Five Year 
Forward View for Mental Health, we have: 

 
    legislated for parity of esteem between physical and mental health; 

    committed to make an additional £1.4 billion available for children and young people’s 

mental health over five years; 

 committed to recruit 1,700 more therapists and supervisors, and to train 3,400 staff 

already working in services to deliver evidence-based treatments by 2020/21; 

 committed to ensure that an additional 70,000 children and young people per year will 

obtain support from mental health services by 2020/21; 

 improved services for eating disorders, with an additional £30 million of investment, 70 

new or enhanced Community Eating Disorder Teams, and the first ever waiting times for 

eating disorders and psychosis; 

    funded eight areas to test different crisis approaches for children and young people’s 

mental health and testing New Care Models for Mental Health; and 

    published cross-agency Local Transformation Plans for children and young people’s 

mental health for every area of the country. 
 

 
This green paper builds on Future in Mind and the ongoing expansion of NHS-funded 
provision, and sets out our ambition to go further to ensure that children and young people 
showing early signs of distress are always able to access the right help, in the right setting, 
when they need it. 

 
We know that half of all mental health conditions are established before the age of fourteen, 
and  we  know that  early  intervention  can  prevent  problems  escalating  and  have  major 
societal benefits. Informed by widespread existing practice in the education sector and by a 
systematic review of existing evidence on the best ways to promote positive mental health 
for children and young people, we want to put schools and colleges at the heart of our efforts 

to intervene early and prevent problems escalating.2 

76



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 4  
 
 
There is clear evidence that schools and colleges can, and do, play a vital role in identifying 
mental health needs at an early stage, referring young people to specialist support and 
working jointly with others to support young people experiencing problems. Around half of 
schools and colleges already have a dedicated lead for mental health. 61% of schools 
currently offer counselling, and 90% of schools and colleges offer staff training on supporting 

pupils’ mental health and wellbeing.3 

 
We want to ensure that all children and young people, no matter where they live, have 
access to high-quality mental health and wellbeing support linked to their school or college. 
Some children and young people will always need additional support from more specialist 
services within and beyond the NHS. When a need has been identified, young people 
should be assessed quickly, and referred to the most appropriate support. We know from the 
Care Quality Commission’s recent report that although quality of care is in places good, 

waits can often be too long.4 

 
As the next step in our reforms, we will therefore support local areas to adopt an ambitious 
new collaborative approach to provide children and young people with an unprecedented 
level of support to tackle early signs of mental health issues. This approach has three key 
elements: 

 
1.  We will incentivise every school and college to identify a Designated Senior Lead for 

Mental Health to oversee the approach to mental health and wellbeing. All children and 

young people’s mental health services should identify a link for schools and colleges. 

This link will provide rapid advice, consultation and signposting. 

 
2.  We will fund new Mental Health Support Teams, supervised by NHS children and young 

people’s mental health staff, to provide specific extra capacity for early intervention and 

ongoing help. Their work will be managed jointly by schools, colleges and the NHS. 

These teams will be linked to groups of primary and secondary schools and to colleges, 

providing interventions to support those with mild to moderate needs and supporting the 

promotion of good mental health and wellbeing. 

 
3.  As we roll out the new Support Teams, we will trial a four week waiting time for access to 

specialist NHS children and young people’s mental health services. This builds on the 

expansion of specialist NHS services already underway. 
 
We will roll out our new approach – incorporating all three pillars, including Designated 
Senior Leads for mental health in schools, creating Mental Health Support Teams and 
reducing waiting times – to at least a fifth to a quarter of the country by the end of 2022/23. 
We will start with a number of trailblazer areas, operational from 2019, which will be 
supported by robust evaluation so that we understand what works. The precise rollout will be 
determined by the success of the trailblazers, and securing funding after 2020/21, the end of 
the Government’s current spending period. This will be part of future spending review 
decisions. 

 
This mix of provision will look very different in different areas, and we do not believe there 
is a single model that should be implemented nationally. The trailblazer approach to the 
initial phase of implementation will allow us to test how best to deliver this new service 
through local innovation and differentiation, and understand how its benefits can extend to 
all children and young people, including the most vulnerable. We will invite a range of areas 
to develop and evaluate different models of delivering the teams, at the heart of a 
collaborative approach. The aim will be for trailblazers to provide implementation support to 
other areas as the additional resource rolls out. 

77



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 5  
 
 
There are also wider opportunities to improve children and young people’s mental health and 
we need to continue with the focus on joined up working. We will do more to help schools 
support pupils with their mental health. A whole school approach, with commitment from 
senior leadership and supported by external expertise, is essential to the success of schools 
in tackling mental health. Mental health awareness training is a part of this. We will ensure 
that a member of staff in every primary and secondary school receives mental health 
awareness training. 

 
We committed in our manifesto that every child will learn about mental wellbeing. Through 
the engagement process now underway for deciding next steps for Personal, Social, Health 
and Economic Education (PSHE), and Relationships and Sex Education (RSE), we will 
decide on the most effective way to deliver this. We will look at how mental health and 
wellbeing can support healthy relationships and how best to secure good quality teaching for 
all pupils through PSHE, and will consult on draft statutory guidance on RSE and potentially 
PSHE. 

 
In addition to learning about how social media can have both positive and negative impacts 
on mental health as part of the curriculum, we also want to keep children and young people 
safe online and ensure that they are protected from potentially harmful effects to their mental 
health. We will convene a working group of social media and digital sector companies to 
explore what more they can do to help us keep children safe online, aligning with work 
underway through the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport’s recently published 
Internet Safety Strategy. The Chief Medical Officer will also produce a report on the impact 
that technology has on young people’s mental health. 

 
The proposals set out in this document, most significantly our approach to joint working 
between schools  and  colleges and the NHS, represent an ambitious new approach to 
helping all children and young people live happy and fulfilling lives. We welcome your views, 
through the public consultation, on how we can best make this exciting vision a reality. 

78



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 6  
 

 

Chapter 1 - Case for action: the 
evidence 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1.  Children with a persistent mental health problem face unequal chances in life. This is 

one of the burning injustices of our time. It is our collective duty to ensure that we take 

action to promote and protect the mental wellbeing of our children and young people. 

This chapter sets out the key evidence that has informed the development of the 

proposals in this green paper. The evidence covers the prevalence of the mental health 

issues our children and young people are experiencing, the consequences of these 

issues, and the quality of and access to current services. 
 

 

Prevalence of mental health issues 
 

2.  We know that mental health problems affect a significant number of children and young 

people, with the most recent data suggesting that one in ten children and young people 

has some form of clinically diagnosable mental health disorder. This level of prevalence 

equates to around 850,000 children and young people with a diagnosable mental health 

disorder in the UK today.5 

 
3.  An Office for National Statistics (ONS) survey (2004, the most recent available) found 

that 3.3% of children had anxiety, 0.9% had depression, 5.8% had conduct disorder, 

1.5% had hyperkinetic disorder, and 1.3% had a less common disorder (made up of 

0.9%  with  autism  spectrum  disorder,  0.3%  with  an  eating  disorder,  and  0.1%  with 

mutism). Some children had multiple disorders. In 2018, the outputs of a new prevalence 

survey will provide a current, rich evidence base on conditions and indicate whether 

these rates have changed. 

 
4.  The ONS survey also highlighted that based on parents’ reports, 2% of all children, aged 

5-16, had self-harmed. Of those children with an emotional disorder, 14% had self- 

harmed. However, these figures were far higher when looking at the child’s report, with 

7% of all children, and 28% of children with an emotional disorder, reporting self-harm. 

More recent research published this year suggests that self-harm may be increasing 

amongst certain groups, with a 68% increase in self-harm rates among girls aged 13 to 

16 since 2011.6 

 

 
5.  Some  young  people  are  far  more  likely  than  others  to  experience  mental  health 

problems.7 The prevalence of mental health disorders varies by age, with nearly 8% of 5- 

10 year olds having a diagnosable mental health disorder, compared to nearly 12% of 

11-15 year olds.8  It also varies by sex – mental health disorders are more common in 

boys (just over 11%) than girls (nearly 8%).9 The ONS survey shows that the prevalence 

of mental health problems in children and young people varied depending on ethnicity. 

79



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 7  
 
 

Around 1 in 10 white children had a mental health disorder, compared to just under 1 in 

10 black children, and 3 in 100 Indian children.10
 

 

 
6.  Young people’s own views on their feelings and emotions are valuable indicators of their 

overall mental health and wellbeing, and their ability to participate in school, learn and 

socialise. In 2014, 18% of young people aged 11-15 reported they had experienced 

some form of cyberbullying in the past two months.11 12 While 74% of young people 

reported having high life satisfaction, this decreased with age among both boys and girls, 

and mid-adolescent (15 year old) girls appeared to be particularly likely to report poorer 

life satisfaction.13
 

 
7.  Studies have shown links between mental ill-health and Adverse Childhood Experiences, 

and that mental health needs are much more prevalent among looked after children.14 It 

is estimated that 45% of looked after children have a diagnosable mental disorder 

(compared to 10% of all children).15 16 17 There is limited evidence on the specific 

prevalence of mental health problems in adopted children, but the available literature 

suggests that adopted children can experience similar mental and behavioural disorders 

as looked after children. We know that exposure to domestic abuse can have a negative 

impact on a child’s emotional wellbeing. A study by SafeLives showed 52% of children 

who witness domestic abuse experienced behavioural problems and issues with social 

development and relationships.18
 

 
8.  Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) people of all ages are more likely to 

experience poor mental health than heterosexuals, which indicates that LGBT children 

and young people have particular support needs. For example, LGBT people were found 

to be at higher risk of mental disorder, suicidal thoughts, substance misuse and self- 

harm than heterosexuals.19 20 21 22
 

 
9.  Young people involved in gangs face particularly high rates of mental illness. Signs of 

severe behavioural problems before the age of 12 are prevalent (40% of those who were 

gang members, of both sexes, compared with 13% of general youth justice entrants), 

and as many as 1 in 3 female and 1 in 10 male gang members are considered at risk of 

suicide or self-harm.23
 

 
10. Moreover, there is evidence that young people who are not in education, employment or 

training (NEETs) have more mental health and substance misuse problems than their 

non-NEET peers.24 This detrimental effect is greater when time spent as a NEET starts 

at a younger age, or lasts for a longer period of time. This link is partly due to an 

increased likelihood of unemployment, low wages or low quality work later on in life.25
 

 
 

Impact of mental health problems 
 

11. The impact of mental health problems on children and young people’s lives can be 

significant. The evidence shows that children and young people with mental health 

problems are more likely to have negative life experiences early on, that can damage 

their life chances as they grow towards adulthood. These challenges include the facts 

that: 

80



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 8  
 

 
 Children and young people with mental health problems are more likely to experience 

increased disruption to their education, via time off school and exclusions, than 

children with no mental health problems.26 27
 

 Young people with mental health problems are more likely to experience problems in 

their  future  employment,  with  various  longitudinal  studies  suggesting  long-term 

impact on economic activity such as receipt of welfare benefits, income, and 

continuous employment.28 29 30
 

 One quarter of boys in Young Offender Institutions reported emotional or mental 

health problems.31
 

 Young people with conduct disorder are more likely to engage in criminal activity, 

with research suggesting they are 20 times more likely to end up in prison, and four 

times more likely to become dependent on drugs, compared to the general 

population.32
 

 
12. There is also strong evidence that adult mental health problems begin in childhood or 

adolescence – and emerging evidence that Adverse Childhood Experiences in infancy 

may have negative impacts on future mental health and wellbeing outcomes.33 A British 

cohort study showed that teens who had common mental disorders (CMDs) were more 

than two and a half times more likely to have a CMD at age 36, compared with mentally 

healthy teenagers. For teens with persistent CMD, they were over six times more likely 

to have CMD at age 36 and 43, and four times more likely at age 53. 34 35
 

 
13. Adults with mental health problems are much more likely to have other disadvantages, 

including: 
 

 Lower incomes in early adulthood and into middle age; 

 Lower probability of being in work in middle age; 

 Increased  risk  of  problems  with  their  physical  health,  including  cardiovascular 

disease, gum disease, serious injury and nicotine dependency; and 

 Increased  involvement   in   the  criminal  justice   system,   both   as  victims   and 

perpetrators.36 37 38
 

 
14. Mental health problems also lead to wider societal costs.39 For example: 

 

 Conduct disorder in children leads on to adulthood antisocial personality disorder in 

about 50% of cases, and is associated with a wide range of adverse long-term 

outcomes, particularly delinquency and criminality.40
 

 Progression of psychosis is associated with higher costs to public services (including 

health, social care, and criminal justice), lost employment, and greatly diminished 

quality of life for the patient and their family.41
 

 Labour Force Survey data suggest that 11.4 million working days were lost in Britain 

in 2008/09 due to work-related stress, depression or anxiety.42
 

 
15. We recognise that parents and carers need support in caring for a young person with a 

mental illness or who is going through emotional difficulties. The evidence highlights the 

important  role  of  the  family  in  ensuring  successful  interventions,  with  parental 

involvement improving the outcomes of many interventions. There is also evidence that 

children with mental health problems are more likely to have parents with mental health 

81



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 9  
 
 

problems, and that conversely parental mental illness is associated with increased rates 

of mental health problems in children.43 44 For example, one study found that parents of 

children with an emotional disorder were more than twice as likely as other parents to 

have a score indicating emotional disorder (51% compared to 23%).45
 

 

 

Current service provision 
 

16. The  NHS  provides  mental  health  care  for  children  and  young  people  experiencing 

serious problems. There are currently around 460,000 referrals to children and young 

people’s NHS-funded  mental health services a year, with 200,000 going on to receive 

treatment in NHS-funded services and many being appropriately signposted to other 

help. The health and care regulator, the Care Quality Commission, published the first 

phase of its thematic review of children and young people’s mental health services in 

October 2017. Initial findings show that eight out of ten inpatient wards for young people 

with mental health problems are rated “good” or “outstanding” by the regulator, and three 

quarters of community mental health services are “good” or “outstanding”.46  The initial 

findings  also  identified examples  of  good  and outstanding  practice, with  areas  that 

involve children and families in shaping services, and have good relationships between 

the NHS, schools and local authorities, the voluntary sector and professionals, who work 

together to help children effectively. 

 
17. However, the review showed that the quality of existing services for our young people is 

variable. There is some poor quality care where the different organisations that support 

young people are not joined up, resulting in long waits for support and unclear messages 

for parents and carers. Waits for treatment can vary considerably in different areas, with 

the shortest around four weeks and the longest in one provider up to 100 weeks from 

referral to treatment. Latest data shows that in 2016/17 the average wait for treatment in 

a children and young people’s mental health service was 12 weeks.47  This is not good 

enough. We want to ensure that children and young people access services quicker, so 

that they can benefit from that sooner; our ambition is set out in Chapter 3. 
 

 

Evidence informing this green paper 
 

18. We are grateful to the individuals and organisations who have fed into the development 

of  this  green  paper,  which  has  benefited  from  the  wide  range  of  expert  advice, 

experience and views provided. 

 
19. We are also grateful to the Health and Education Select Committees for their recent joint 

inquiry and report into the role of education in children and young people’s mental health 

and the rich evidence submitted to that inquiry. Their report found that schools and 

colleges have a “frontline role in promoting and protecting children and young people’s 

mental health and wellbeing” and that mental health and education services need to 

work  closely  together  to  improve  children  and  young  people’s  mental  health.  The 

evidence considered by the two Committees has informed our proposals set out here.48
 

 
20. Current and emerging National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidance also 

provides a vital evidence base on effective interventions for children and young people 

with mental health conditions. 

82



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 10  
 

 
 
 

21. To go further in identifying where and how we can best support children and young 

people, the Government asked Professor Tim Kendall, Professor Peter Fonagy and 

Professor Steve Pilling of the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (NCCH) 

and University College London (UCL) to undertake a systematic review of the evidence 

relating to the mental health of children and young people. We have used the findings of 

this evidence review to  inform our proposals.  A summary of the  evidence review’s 

findings can be found at Appendix A; publication of full findings is planned for 2018. 

 
22. The review found that: 

 

 Evidence-based treatments for mild to moderate levels of mental health disorder can 

be delivered by trained non-clinical staff with adequate supervision, leading to 

outcomes comparable to those of trained therapists; 

 School  staff  play  an  essential  role  in  early  identification,  particularly  for  eating 

disorders, self-harm and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and are able 

to encourage coordination between children and young people’s mental health 

services and school staff, which is important for specific diagnoses, such as of 

ADHD; 

 The  coordination  of  interventions  and  the  development  of  effective  pathways 

between  children  and  young  people’s  mental  health  services  and  school  is 

particularly important for children and young people with more severe problems and 

those with problems, such as ADHD, where medication is involved; 

 There  is  limited  evidence,  within  the  scope  of  the  review,  for  the  long-term 

effectiveness of universal prevention approaches on mental health outcomes related 

to suicide and self-harm, depression and anxiety and alcohol and drug misuse at 12 

months. However, the review found that some general mental health promotion 

approaches such as mentoring showed promise.  We announce further work into the 

evidence base for prevention approaches in Chapter 4. 

 
23. The  evidence  review  also  identified  some  specific  ways  in  which  schools  have  an 

important role both in identifying mental health issues at an early stage, and in helping to 

put in place support for pupils experiencing problems49: 
 

 The school environment is well suited to a graduated approach to children’s mental 

health, where children at risk can be identified and interventions can be offered to 

address problems. 

 As the school environment can present triggers for many difficulties (such as social 

anxiety), it is therefore also a good place to find support to manage them. 

 The school environment  is non-stigmatising, making  interventions offered in this 

context more acceptable to children and young people, and their parents. 

 
24. These  insights  on  ‘what  works’  underpin  our  proposed  model  for  delivering  more 

effective, timely support for children and young people, which we set out in detail in 

Chapter 3. 

83



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 11  
 

 

Chapter 2 - Action already 
underway 

 
 
 
 
 
 
25. The Government has prioritised transforming mental health services for children and 

young people. Building on the principles outlined in Future in Mind, the Government has 

an ambitious programme of reform underway, backed up by an additional £1.4 billion 

which has been made available over five years.50 This chapter sets out details of the 

action already in train. But we are not complacent and know we need to do more; that is 

why we are setting out further significant steps in Chapters 3 and 4 of this green paper. 
 

 

Record levels of investment 
 

26. We have made our commitment clear through significant investment in services for 

children and young people, including: 
 

 Legislating for parity of esteem between physical and mental health in 2012; 

 Investing record levels in mental health services, totalling £11.6 billion in 2016/17; 

 Making  an additional £1.4 billion available for children’s and young people’s mental 

health between 2015/16 – 2019/20 to enable an additional 70,000 children per year 

to be seen by children’s and young people’s mental health services by 2020/21; and 

 Committing to recruiting 1,700 more therapists and supervisors, and training 3,400 

existing staff to deliver evidence based treatments. 
 
 

New waiting time standards for mental health 
 

27. We are proud that this Government introduced the first waiting times standards in mental 

health and that these are improving access to services: 
 

 For early intervention in psychosis: the standard is that 50% of people (of any age) 

experiencing a first episode of psychosis will be seen within two weeks, increasing to 

60% by 2020. In September 2017, 76% of people were seen within this time. 

 For eating disorders: by 2020, 95% of young people in need of an eating disorders 

service will be seen within four weeks, and one week in urgent cases. In the second 

quarter of 2017/18, 71% of patients started urgent treatment within one week, and 

82% of patients started routine treatment within four weeks. 
 
 

Improving inpatient care and out of area placements 
 

28. Children and young people sometimes have such serious mental health problems that 

they need inpatient care, in a specialist mental health ward. This is a rare event – around 

70 per 100,000 young people (aged 10-19) are admitted into wards. At any one time 

around 1,300 young people are receiving inpatient treatment for mental health problems. 

84



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 12  
 
 
29. However, too many children are still treated further away from home than clinically 

necessary (such cases known as ‘out of area placements’). Moving these young people, 

who are experiencing serious problems, away from the support offered by their family 

and friends is not always appropriate, because being placed further from home has a 

range of impacts including creating extra stress for young people and their families.51
 

 
30. NHS England therefore has a major programme underway to improve inpatient care, by 

opening between 150 and 180 new beds and ensuring that the right beds are in the right 

place in the country. As set out in our manifesto, our ambition is that by 2020/21 no 

children are inappropriately admitted or sent out of area to receive anything but the most 

specialist mental health care. 

 
31. We  are  ensuing  that  more  children  and  young  people  can  be  supported  in  the 

community, avoiding admission where possible and appropriate, and reducing the need 

to travel for those that do. This requires a joint approach across health, social care and 

the youth justice system to ensure that children and young people  requiring highly 

specialised  interventions are admitted and discharged back to their communities as 

quickly as possible. 
 

 

Improving specialist services 
 

32. We  are  expanding  services  for  eating  disorders.  There  are  70  new  or  enhanced 

Community Eating Disorder Teams in place, which will cover the whole of England. 

There has been a steady increase in the number of young people starting treatment and 

the percentage treated within the eating disorder standard waiting time frame has 

increased. 

 
33. NHS England and its partners are working on an ambitious programme to increase 

capacity  and  capability  in  specialist  mental  health  services  for  women  in  during 

pregnancy and the first postnatal year (known as ‘perinatal services’) across England. 

This will mean that, by 2020/21, 30,000 more women will be able to access appropriate, 

high-quality specialist mental health care, closer to home and when they need it, both in 

the community and in inpatient Mother and Baby Units. This transformation is backed by 

£365 million of  investment  between 2015/16 and 2020/21. Four new mental health 

Mother Health and Baby units will open in the next two years and bed numbers in the 

existing 15 units will increase so that overall capacity is increased by nearly 50% in 

2018/19. NHS England has also allocated £40 million to date to support development of 

specialist perinatal mental health community services across England with 20 new or 

expanded specialist perinatal mental health community teams now in operation. 

 
34. For   children   and   young   people   with   learning   disabilities,   autism   or   both,   the 

‘Transforming Care’ programme focuses on how specialist mental health support can be 

provided in a way that prevents admission to hospital wherever possible. 
 

 

Improving crisis care 
 

35. We are also improving crisis care, with eight areas testing different crisis approaches for 

children  and  young  people’s  mental  health  through  ‘Emergency  and  Urgent  Care 

85



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 13  
 
 

Vanguards’. The New Care Models in Tertiary Mental Health programme also supports 

more appropriate local provision by jointly commissioning between NHS England and 

providers so that children and young people in need of inpatient beds access a bed close 

to home. Savings from reducing and minimising hospital stays are to be reinvested to 

improve local community response for children and young people presenting in crisis and 

improve access to intensive home treatment with support from their local community 

team. 

 
36. To better support people of all ages at risk of experiencing a mental health crisis, the 

Department of Health has launched a £15 million scheme, ‘Beyond Places of Safety’. 

This will support services for those needing urgent and emergency mental healthcare, 

including children and young people. 
 

 

A better journey through mental health services, 
working in partnership 

 

37. NHS England has commissioned the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

and the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health to develop generic and crisis 

children and young people’s mental health  ‘pathways’ to support commissioners and 

providers across health, social care, education and the voluntary sector  to improve 

quality and reduce unwarranted variation. We anticipate that these pathways will set out 

the key functions that should be in place in order to provide the most effective services. 

These will support vital aspects of care including: 
 

    rapid advice and support and signposting to appropriate help; 

    timely multi-agency assessment; and 

    evidence-based treatment. 
 

 
38. The  pathways  will  be  supported  by  case  studies  and  helpful  resources  to  help 

commissioners and providers.  Many local areas are exploring new ways of working to 

improve the support they offer. For example, almost half the country is considering 

adoption of the ‘i-Thrive’ model, through which services and professionals focus on the 

needs of the individual, rather than condition or diagnosis. This is helping move away 

from the traditional ‘tiers’ of support for mental health based on service boundaries. 

 
39. To support local leadership and accountability for local transformation, Future in Mind 

introduced cross-agency Local Transformation Plans for children and young people’s 

mental health services. These provide a basis for local areas to work with commissioners 

and providers across health, social care, education, youth justice and the voluntary 

sector, bringing everyone together to plan strategically, reflecting the needs of local 

communities. These are updated annually and aligned with essential multi-agency plans. 

 
40. Some  young  people  need  ongoing  support  into  young  adulthood,  after  they  leave 

children  and  young  people’s  mental  health  services.  This  point  of  transition  is  an 

important  stage  for  young  people,  and  it  is  not  always  easy.  NHS  England  has 

introduced a financial incentive to improve the experiences of young people leaving 

children’s  and  young  people’s  mental  health services  on  the  basis  of  their  age  by 

including age-based transitions out of mental health services commissioned by Clinical 

86



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 14  
 
 

Commissioning  Groups  (CCGs)  as  part  of  the  ‘Commissioning  for  Quality  and 

Innovation’ (CQUIN) payments framework in 2017-19. This sets out a framework for 

joint-agency transition planning with young people at its heart, to enable better transition 

experiences for young people. 

 
41. In order to make changes that are meaningful to children, young people, parents and 

carers, we need to ensure their continued involvement in all key decisions – about their 

care, about service design and evaluation, and about commissioning. This was a key 

principle set out in Future in Mind. For example, NHS England has commissioned 

YoungMinds to run a four-year national participation programme that supports 

commissioners, providers, services, children and young people and parents and carers 

to improve participation across the country. 
 

 

Support for children in need 
 

42. Future  in  Mind  included  an  ambition  to  make  government  work  better  across  the 

boundaries of healthcare, education, justice and care to make the system easier to 

navigate for all children and young people, including those who are most vulnerable and 

most likely to fall through the gaps. 

 
43. Those particularly vulnerable children, defined by the Children Act 1989 as ‘Children in 

Need’ should have the same opportunities as any other children to realise their potential, 

yet we know that they currently face worse outcomes. The reasons for these vulnerable 

children needing support and protection through children’s social care include being at 

risk of, or suffering, abuse, neglect, exploitation or youth violence, witnessing domestic 

abuse, being a young carer, or having a disability. These reasons can overlap with 

mental health needs in complex ways, requiring services to work together to deliver 

effective support. We know that many children in contact with children’s services, 

including looked after children, and care leavers, have post-trauma stress symptoms, 

and attachment disorders. We also know that the system currently struggles to address 

the  severity  and  complexity  of  their  needs.  Many  of  these  complex  needs  require 

targeted,  person-centred  interventions,  and  appropriate  assessment  is  essential  to 

ensure the right support is offered. 

 
44. To identify new opportunities to improve the mental health and wellbeing of looked after 

and previously looked after children, the Department of Health and Department for 

Education commissioned the Social Care Institute for Excellence to convene an Expert 

Working Group to ensure that the emotional wellbeing and mental health needs of 

children and young people in care, those adopted from care or under a Special 

Guardianship Order, and care leavers are better met. The group, chaired by Professor 

Peter Fonagy, Dame Christine Lenehan and Alison O’Sullivan, published its report in 

November 2017.52  We are currently reviewing their recommendations, which include a 

needs-based approach and a focus on commissioning and accountability, workforce and 

leadership. We will work with stakeholders to consider if and how they can be taken 

forward in the context of the proposals in this paper for a new model of support. 
 

 
45. From 2018 the Department for Education will also be piloting new approaches to the 

mental health assessment looked after children receive on entering care so that they 

87



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 15  
 
 

effectively identify the complex needs these children often present. The pilots will draw 

from the findings of the expert working group. 

 
46. We know that young carers’ mental health can be affected by their caring roles.  The 

Children and Families Act 2014 introduced important new rights for young carers, and 

health services and Local Authorities need to work together to ensure that young carers 

can get mental health support when they need it.  To enable this, the Department of 

Health is working with Carers Trust to support better identification of young carers. 
 

 

Support for children with special educational needs 
and disabilities 

 

47. The  2014  reforms  to  the  support  for  children  with  special  educational  needs  and 

disabilities (SEND) introduced new Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans to promote 

more integrated and comprehensive support for children and young people with the most 

complex needs across education, health and social care. The changes to the SEND 

Code of Practice specifically recognised mental health issues for the first time as one of 

the things that could underlie specialist educational needs. We provided substantial 

additional funding to local authorities to support them in implementing the reforms, not 

least the task of reviewing Statements of SEN and converting them where appropriate to 

EHC plans. 

 
48. Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission are conducting joint inspections of each local 

area’s approach to identifying and meeting special educational needs. These inspections 

have highlighted and helped with the sharing of good practice, at the same time as 

helping local authorities and CCGs to identify where they need to improve. One of the 

emerging themes of the first year of inspections was the difficulty schools face in 

accessing specialist support for those with social, emotional and mental health needs. 

 
49. We also commissioned an independent review by Dame Christine Lenehan of residential 

specialist schools and colleges - settings in which many pupils have significant mental 

health needs. The review’s findings included concerns about the availability of specialist 

support for mental health for those in residential special provision. The review, informed 

by a call for evidence and fieldwork visits to schools, colleges, local authorities and other 

services, contains a series of recommendations for government and other agencies, 

focusing on: 

 Ensuring children and young people with SEND get the services and support they 

need in their local community (in mainstream or special provision); 

 Ensuring that local areas have planned and commissioned provision strategically, so 

that it is available when required; 

 Ensuring the accountability and school improvement systems enable schools and 

colleges to achieve the best possible outcomes. 

 
50. We will publish a full response to the report’s recommendations in spring 2018, and 

establish a national leadership board for children and young people with high needs. 

88



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 16  
 

 

Better support for lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender (LGBT) young people 

 

51. In July 2017, the Government Equalities Office launched a national LGBT survey. This 

survey  asked  LGBT  people,  aged  16  or  over  and  living  in  the  UK,  about  their 

experiences of discrimination and access to services. 

 
52. More than 100,000 people responded to the survey. The Government Equalities Office is 

currently analysing the results and plan to publish the results in due course. The 

Government recognises that LGBT people can be disproportionately affected by poor 

mental health compared to other groups. The Department of Health will work with the 

Government Equalities Office to review the findings of the national LGBT survey, and will 

develop a response to the issues it identifies. 
 

 

Better support for young offenders 
 

53. Liaison and Diversion services are being rolled out in police stations and courts, and are 

currently expected to cover 82% of the population by the end of 2017/18 with a view to 

100% coverage by 2021. These services identify and assess people arrested for an 

offence, including young people, who may have mental health or substance misuse 

issues, or other vulnerabilities, and aim to divert them into services and/or away from 

custody where appropriate. We know that young people involved with gangs have 

particularly high rates of mental illness, which includes a range of conditions including 

conduct disorder, antisocial personality disorder, anxiety, psychosis, and also drug and 

alcohol dependence. 

 
54. We have been working to introduce an integrated framework of care, known as ‘Secure 

Stairs’ for children and young people within, or in contact with, the children and young 

people’s secure estate. A core principle of Secure Stairs is that day to day staff are at the 

centre of the mental health intervention, recognising that they have a pivotal role in 

managing risk and promoting change for these children. In the community, we are 

developing Collaborative Commissioning Networks to improve the links and working 

practices between the commissioners and services for those children and young people 

who come into NHS England’s Health and Justice Pathway. 

 
55. A national rollout of Community Forensic children and young people’s mental health 

services is underway, and the first of the new services commenced in the north west in 

October 2017. This service seeks to improve the mental health of a very specific group 

of very vulnerable children and young people and includes children and young people 

who have been subject to trauma or severe neglect, and those with high levels of social 

disadvantage.  High levels of mental health need may require support with several other 

needs, making them a complex and vulnerable cohort to assess and treat. 
 

 

Improving data and tackling variation 
 

56. We are working to address the unacceptably out-dated data on the prevalence of mental 

health problems amongst children and young people, the most recent of which is from 

2004. Fieldwork is currently underway for an expanded survey covering children and 

89



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 17  
 
 

young people aged 2-19 in England, which will also capture issues that have become 

more common since the last survey such as eating disorders, the impact of cyberbullying 

and social media. We will publish a survey report in 2018 and from then on future 

surveys will take place every seven years. We will also be commissioning a survey on 

the mental health prevalence of looked after and previously looked after children to 

better understand their needs and inform which services should be commissioned, as 

well as the training of professionals in contact with these children. 

 
57. Since January 2016, we have been collecting, and reporting since April 2016, national 

monthly data on children and young people’s mental health services through the Mental 

Health Services Dataset.53  NHS England also publishes a quarterly Five Year Forward 

View for Mental Health Dashboard, which highlights key indicators across mental health. 

This is a major step towards improving data and transparency on mental health. We 

have convened a data quality group with relevant national organisations to drive up data 

quality in children and young people’s mental health. However, we need to go further to 

make sure we understand what is happening in schools and colleges, and local authority 

funded services. 

 
58. NHS Improvement is continuing work to improve operational productivity and quality 

across mental health services. This will enable mental health trusts to compare their 

efficiency and productivity against other peer trusts through the ‘Model Hospital’ online 

information system, to learn from the best, and to raise standards across the sector. 
 

 

Supporting children and young people in schools and 
colleges 

 

59. Schools and colleges already do a lot to promote positive mental health. The Department 

for  Education’s  survey  of  mental health support  in schools  and colleges (published 

August  2017)  identified  the  extent  to  which  they  are  already  actively  taking  whole 

systems approaches to mental health, with action spanning promotion of mental health 

and wellbeing, early identification, and referral to and joint working with specialist 

support.54 Appendix B sets out some of the findings of this survey and summarises: 
 

 ongoing activity to improve links between NHS mental health services and schools 

and colleges; 

    action to tackle poor behaviour and bullying; and 

    support for self-help. 
 

 
60. Action to improve support for children and young people’s mental health across – and 

beyond – health and education has laid strong foundations for the next steps set out in 

Chapter 3. 

90



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 18  
 

 

Chapter 3 - Working together to 
improve support for children and 
young people 

 
 
 
 
 
 
61. Based on the evidence about what will make a difference and building on work that is 

already underway, we now want to do more to promote good mental health for children 

and young people, provide effective early support and continue to improve access to 

specialist services. This chapter sets out an ambitious set of proposals. We suggest a 

collaborative approach to implementation, which will involve testing a range of different 

models for putting the proposals into practice. 
 

 

Working together to improve support: our core green 
paper proposals 

 

62. To fill the gap in support for children and young people’s mental health, we will take 

action in three ways: 

 
i. We  will  incentivise  and  support  all  schools  to  identify  and  train  a 

Designated Senior Lead for Mental Health with a new offer of training 

to  help  leads  and  staff  to  deliver  whole  school  approaches  to 

promoting better mental health. 

 
ii. We will fund new Mental Health Support Teams to provide specific 

extra capacity for early intervention and ongoing help, supervised by 

NHS children and young people’s mental health staff, whose work will 

be jointly managed by schools and the NHS. These teams will be 

linked to groups of primary and secondary schools, and to colleges. 

They will provide interventions to support those with mild to moderate 

needs and support the promotion of good mental health and wellbeing. 

The Designated Senior Leads for Mental Health in schools will work 

closely with the new Support Teams, who, as part of their role, will 

provide a clear point of contact for schools and colleges. We will test 

different models for delivering these teams – including how they can 

link effectively to a range of other provision locally and how they can 

improve support for vulnerable groups. 

 
iii. We want to reduce waiting times for NHS services for those children 

and young people who need specialist help. 

91



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 19  
 
 
63. We will roll out this new approach in phases across the country, incorporating all three 

pillars and trialling different approaches to delivering teams.  Where areas already have 

leads and collaborative support in place we will test how teams can enhance existing 

provision. 

 
64. We will roll out our new approach – including Designated Senior Leads for mental health 

in schools, creating Mental Health Support Teams and reducing waiting times – to at 

least a fifth to a quarter of the country by the end of 2022/23. We will start with a number 

of trailblazer areas, operational from 2019, which will be supported by robust evaluation 

to understand what works. The precise rollout will be determined by the success of the 

trailblazers, and securing funding after 2020/21, the end of the Government’s current 

spending period. This will be part of future spending review decisions. 
 

 

A Designated Senior Lead for Mental Health in every 
school and college 

 

65. The first pillar of our new approach is to incentivise every school and college to 

identify and train a Designated Senior Lead for Mental Health, building on existing 

practice in many parts of the country and the lessons from our successful schools 

link pilots. 

 
66. Nearly half of schools and colleges already have specific mental health leads and nearly 

two thirds have a member of staff identified as making links with mental health services. 

We know that individuals in this role can make a big difference to children and young 

people through promoting whole school approaches to mental health and wellbeing and 

forging effective links with NHS mental health services. We therefore want to ensure that 

every school and college can put a Designated Senior Lead in place, supported by high- 

quality training. 

 
67. The role played by existing school and college mental health leads varies, taking into 

account factors such as the size of the setting, the mix of other professionals on site and 

the needs of the pupils and students. It is important that schools and colleges are able to 

decide what works best for them. Based on experience of existing practice, the core 

roles of leads are likely to be: 
 

 Oversight of the whole school approach to mental health and wellbeing, including 

how  it  is  reflected  in  the  design  of  behaviour  policies,  curriculum  and  pastoral 

support, how staff are supported with their own mental wellbeing and how pupils and 

parents are engaged;55
 

 Supporting the identification of at risk children and children exhibiting signs of mental 

ill health; 

 Knowledge of the local mental health services and  working with clear links into 

children and young people’s mental health services to refer children and young 

people into NHS services where it is appropriate to do so; 

 Coordination of the mental health needs of young people within the school or college 

and oversight of the delivery of interventions where these are being delivered in the 

educational setting; 

92



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 20  
 

 
 Support to staff in contact with children with mental health needs to help raise 

awareness, and give all staff the confidence to work with young people; 

 Overseeing the outcomes of interventions, on children and young people’s education 

and wellbeing. 
 
68. We  are  promoting  this  approach  because  the  Department  for  Education  and  NHS 

England have, through the Mental Health Services and Schools Link Pilot, worked 

together to test a joint training approach that has shown the benefits of building strong 

relationships between schools and NHS mental health services. Although each area 

developed their own joint working approaches and different models of working were 

effective in different areas,  a common successful element was the identification of 

specific leads in schools and mental health services.56 The independent evaluation of the 

pilot showed that this was successful in strengthening communication and joint working 

arrangements between schools and mental health services. It also found specific 

improvements in understanding of referral routes, improved knowledge and awareness 

of mental issues among school leads, and improved timeliness and appropriateness of 

referrals. There is more we can learn about the best ways of delivering better links 

through a second phase of the schools link pilot that will look to support further activity in 

1,200 schools in 20 areas. However, we believe that the value of leads in promoting joint 

working is established. 

 
69. To support every school and college to identify and train a Designated Senior 

Lead for Mental Health, we will roll out this training to all areas by 2025. This 

training was piloted and evaluated positively in the Mental Health Services and Schools 

Link Pilots. To provide further support for schools and colleges that have already put 

Designated Senior Leads for Mental Health in place and to incentivise others to do so, 

we will make funding available. This will be used to develop leads and their skills in 

leading mental health work in their institution, supporting colleagues and implementing 

whole school approaches. We will provide a training fund to allow schools to choose an 

appropriate training course, depending on the skills their lead already has. We will 

consult on the best way of distributing this funding. 

 
70. To ensure that there is a suitable range of high-quality training available, we will use our 

Teaching  and  Leadership  Innovation  Fund  to  support  training  providers  to  develop 

training packages to build the skills of Designated Senior Leads for Mental Health and 

support the delivery of whole school approaches. We will confirm the amounts to be 

provided to schools and colleges once the cost of what is developed is clear. However, 

we will aim to cover the costs of a significant training programme and provide up to £15- 

20 million each year from 2019 to cover costs until all school and colleges have had 

chance to train a lead. 

 
71. The identification and training of a Designated Senior Lead will be a vital part of a 

broader package of action to embed mental health in different aspects of school life, 

through changes to initial teacher training, what is taught to pupils in personal, social, 

health and economic education and relationships education and support to schools in 

engaging pupils, parents and carers. This wider programme is set out in Chapter 4. 

93



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 21  
 

 

Mental Health Support Teams to work with clusters of 
schools and colleges across the country 

 

72. The second part of the new model is the creation of new Mental Health Support Teams. 

This section sets out how these Support Teams will work. 
 

 
73. While the value of schools and colleges playing a part in supporting young people with 

their wellbeing and mental health is clear, it is equally clear that this is not a challenge 

that they can or should meet on their own. Schools and colleges need a collective 

understanding and up to date knowledge of children’s mental health services provided 

locally,  and  access  to  specialist  help,  through  clear  links  into  NHS  mental  health 

services. 

 
74. Evidence from the evaluation of the Mental Health Services and Schools Link Pilots 

suggests that better collaboration between schools and mental health services can 

improve the mental health support available locally. We also support the work done by 

many NHS mental health trusts in developing self-help resources for mild to moderate 

cases. Some areas are already introducing ‘single points of access’ which provide advice 

on self-help and signposting of children and young people to the most appropriate 

service. This includes signposting to services which provide triaging support ahead of 

commencing treatment, and those which provide advice to parents and carers on 

identifying worsening symptoms. However, there is no question that significant additional 

resource is required to support early intervention with children and young people with 

mild and moderate issues. 

 
75. Building on emerging practice resulting from the schools link pilots, we propose to 

establish new Mental Health Support Teams, supervised by NHS children and 

young people’s mental health staff and linked to groups of schools and colleges. 

These teams will work with the Designated Senior Leads for Mental Health in 

schools and colleges, and provide new capacity locally for addressing the needs 

of children with mild to moderate mental health issues. They will also provide the 

link with more specialist NHS mental health services so that children can more 

swiftly access help they need, if that is necessary. We will roll out this approach in a 

series of trailblazer areas; more detail on proposed implementation is at the end of this 

chapter and we welcome views as part of our consultation on these proposals. 

 
76. This new collaborative service will comprise trained staff offering focused evidence- 

based interventions, with appropriate clinical supervision. This provision will be of 

particular benefit to children and young people who demonstrate mild or moderate 

conditions   including:   anxiety   (primary   and   secondary   school   age),   low   mood 

(adolescents) and common behavioural difficulties. However, we want the teams to have 

a wider role in supporting all children and young people. 

 
77. Specific interventions could include: 

 

 Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) in a school/college setting for adolescents at 

risk of depression; 

94



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 22  
 

 
 CBT in a school/college setting for young children and adolescents showing signs of 

anxiety; 

 Family-based behaviour change, which can be successfully delivered by teachers 

and other non-clinical staff to help reduce child conduct problems; 

 Group-based intervention engaging participants in critiquing the ‘thin ideal’, which 

can be effective in reducing eating disorder symptoms and body image concerns, 

when targeted toward high-risk adolescent girls. 

 
78. We envisage that these new teams will support existing effective provision in the local 

area by training other professionals, including family workers, early help workers, social 

workers and teams who work with young offenders. They will also provide a specific 

assessment and referral function, and additional support during treatment, including 

supporting self-care. The teams will also support young people who have experienced 

trauma (such as bereavement) or traumatic incidents. Their support would not be limited 

to those children in mainstream education, and could be available more widely. 

 
79. Such a team can be a valuable additional resource in and of itself, but can be even 

stronger when working closely with a range of other services. These other services 

include professionals who work closely with schools and colleges, such as educational 

psychologists, school nurses and counsellors, local authority troubled families teams, 

social services, peer networks, service user forums, and voluntary and community sector 

organisations. All of these roles play a crucial part in supporting young people with 

mental health problems and so we will test a range of models for putting the new teams 

at the heart of collaborative approaches with these professionals. In particular, local 

troubled  families  teams  take  a  whole  family  approach,  sequence  and  coordinate 

specialist services for vulnerable families, provide parenting support and improve family 

functioning to support improved mental health of children and young people. 

 
80. School nurses already provide valuable support and early help on a number of issues 

that may affect children and young people’s mental health and we would expect them to 

work very closely with the new teams. School nurses are supported by school nurse 

teams which include registered nurses and health care support workers. Public Health 

England has identified ‘resilience and emotional health’ nationally as one of the six ‘high 

impact areas’ where school nurses have the greatest impact on child and family health 

and wellbeing, and is encouraging local services to provide this as a priority for the 

profession. 
 

 

A new waiting time standard 
 

81. The third pillar in our new approach is further action to reduce waiting times for specialist 

children’s and young people’s mental health services. 
 

 
82. As well as improving links between schools/colleges and the NHS, and intervening 

earlier to prevent problems escalating, it is also important for us to ensure that access to 

children and young people’s mental health services continues to improve across the 

board. We want to ensure that the increased support for mental health linked to schools 

and colleges is complemented by swifter access to specialist NHS services for those 

95



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 23  
 
 

who need it. This builds on the programme of expansion of services to 2020/21 that is 

already underway. 

 
83. As acknowledged in Future in Mind and in the Care Quality Commission’s thematic 

review, there is significant variation in access to children and young people’s mental 

health services. Waits for treatment can vary considerably, in one area to another, with 

the shortest around four weeks and the longest in one area up to 100 weeks from 

referral  to  treatment.  The  latest  data  shows  that  in  2016/17  the  average  wait  for 

treatment in a children’s and young people’s mental health service was 12 weeks.57 This 

is not good enough. Building on the success of waiting time standards for psychosis and 

eating disorders, we want to reduce waiting times for all children and young people who 

need help from NHS mental health services to access treatment. 

 
84. As  we trial and roll out the new Mental Health Support Teams,  the NHS will pilot 

implementing reduced waiting times for access to NHS-funded children and young 

people’s mental health services in some of the trailblazer areas outlined above. This will 

aim for children and young people in those areas to be able to access NHS-funded 

services within four weeks. 

 
85. These pilots to explore the best ways of reducing waiting times will build on current 

programmes to improve quality and access to services across the whole system, which 

were set in train by Future in Mind.  Over the past two years, local areas have come 

together to plan and deliver changes across health, education and social care.  The 123 

joint agency Local Transformation Plans are refreshed each year and set out how new 

and existing resources will be used to improve choice and availability of best evidenced 

based care. New models have been developed based on local need. Many areas are 

moving away from the tiered model, and some areas have moved towards 0-25 services. 

Others are exploring the i-Thrive model, and many are using a single point of access, 

whereby referrals come into one point and are then passed to the most appropriate 

service or signposted to other support. These new models share an integrated approach, 

with the NHS working with partner services. 

 
86. Evaluation of the trailblazers will look at the impact the new Mental Health Support 

Teams and the Designated Leads for Mental Health in schools and colleges have on 

referrals to NHS mental health services. The evaluation of the Mental Health Service and 

Schools Links Pilot suggested that better links between schools and the NHS mental 

health services resulted in more appropriate referrals to NHS mental health services, 

although not an overall reduction in referrals. At this stage, we anticipate that, in the long 

term, the creation of the new Mental Health Support Teams will lead to a reduction in 

referrals to NHS services, as earlier intervention prevents problems escalating. However, 

we will look carefully at this issue during the waiting times pilots and trailblazer phase. 
 

 

Implementation 
 

87. We will roll out our new approach – incorporating all three pillars, including Designated 

Senior Leads for mental health in schools, creating Mental Health Support Teams and 

reducing waiting times – to at least a fifth to a quarter of the country by the end of 

2022/23. We will start with a number of trailblazer areas, operational from 2019. We will 

96



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 24  
 
 

commission robust evaluation to build on our understanding of the costs, benefits and 

implementation challenges, as well as gathering and sharing best practice to feed back 

into services. The precise rollout will be determined by the success of the trailblazers, 

and securing funding after 2020/21, the end of  the Government’s current  spending 

period. This will be part of future spending review decisions. 

 
88. The mix of provision will look very different in different areas, and we do not believe there 

is a single model that should be implemented nationally. A trailblazer approach to the 

initial phase of implementation will allow us to test how best to deliver this new service 

through local innovation and differentiation. We will invite a range of areas to develop 

and evaluate different models of delivering the teams. This will include different lead 

bodies and funding mechanisms, for example approaches could be led by health, 

schools/colleges or a local authority). The aim will be for trailblazers to provide 

implementation support to other areas as the additional resource rolls out. 

 
89. Given the wide variety of different contexts in which such teams would operate, we will 

work with stakeholders and delivery partners as part of our consultation to inform the 

trailblazer programme and decisions on which delivery models we should test. This will 

help ensure that the national roll-out can be flexible to local needs and populations, as 

well as ensuring that what teams provide is genuinely additional to what is in place 

locally, even in areas where joint working is more advanced. In the consultation on this 

green paper we are seeking views on the criteria that should be used to choose the 

areas.  They  might  include  linking  with  the  Department  for  Education’s  ‘Opportunity 

Areas’ programme, which looks to remove obstacles to social mobility; areas which can 

demonstrate how they might tackle different aspects of health inequalities; areas which 

are close to achieving a four week waiting time but could test the impact of additional 

investment in achieving four weeks; and areas with a willingness to trial innovative 

approaches. 

 
90. Building on local change programmes underway following Future in Mind, it will be 

important to test how teams can improve the continuous support provided to more 

vulnerable children and help maintain their engagement in schools and colleges. 

Alternative provision and special schools already play a key role in some of the 

developing collaborative models and we will use the trailblazers to capture and share 

practice on how such models can form the focus of teams that support whole cohorts of 

children and young people across an area. We will carefully consider the 

recommendations  of   the  Department  for  Education’s  external  review  of   school 

exclusions, which looks to improve practice in exclusions and focus on the experiences 

of those groups who are disproportionately likely to be excluded. The trailblazers will 

examine how the support teams can best support children and young people who are not 

in school, including those affiliated with gangs or youth violence, who are less likely to 

benefit from school-based provision. 

 
91. We will also look to test how teams can effectively link to social care services, youth 

offending teams and troubled families teams, to provide alternative points of entry and 

better continuity of support to the most vulnerable, as well as how provision might extend 

to  secure  children’s  homes,  secure  training  centres,  young  offender  institutions, 

residential special schools, and residential units for looked after children. 

97



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 25  
 

 
 
 

92. In 2018 we will also use our Teaching and Leadership Innovation Fund to support 

training providers to develop training packages to build the skills of Designated Senior 

Leads for Mental Health in schools and support the delivery of whole school approaches. 

Access to funding for the training for the Designated Senior Leads would start in financial 

year 2019/20, once the Teaching and Leadership Innovation Fund provision has been 

tested, and will continue as we roll out teams nationally. 

 
93. We will start preparing for the rollout of the new Mental Health Support Teams from 

2018, expanding training provision for the new mental health workforce, recruiting initial 

trailblazer areas and recruiting the first group of trainees to staff the new teams. We will 

aim to begin the first wave of training from September 2018. Trailblazers would begin 

delivering in 2019. 

98



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 26  
 

 

Chapter 4 - Wider action to 
support children and young 
people 

 
 
 
 
 
 

94. New Mental Health Support Teams have significant potential to act as a focus for more 

responsive and collaborative mental health provision. However this needs to be 

complemented by wider changes in both education and the community to set the right 

context for their work. This section details action we will take across a number of other 

fronts to support our core proposals. 
 

 

Schools and colleges 
 

95.   The elements of practice that make up a whole school approach to mental health have 

been identified by a number of pieces of work.58 However, the evidence base on how to 

deliver the various elements of the whole school approach is still developing. Wider 

activity is helping to develop practice in key areas such as identifying and responding to 

need, teacher training, teaching about mental health and engaging parents, carers and 

pupils. 
 
 

Identifying and responding to need 
 

96.  The Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Code of Practice 2015, which 

includes mental health issues, sets out the ‘graduated response’ approach that schools 

and colleges should take when a member of staff spots an emerging issue. This includes 

deciding on an intervention and whether it is teaching, behaviour or support related, as 

well as monitoring its effectiveness to inform any subsequent steps. Parents, carers and 

pupils should be engaged in deciding what action to take, and putting such interventions 

in place is not dependent on a pupil being identified as having special educational needs. 

However, given that pupils with SEND, for instance those with learning disabilities or 

autism, are at increased risk of mental health problems, consideration of what support to 

provide them should include consideration of their mental health needs. 

 
97.   The  SEND  Code  of  Practice  also  emphasises  the  importance  of  effective  school 

behaviour policies as part of a whole school approach. The Department for Education’s 

Mental Health and Behaviour guidance sets out more detailed advice on what to look for 

in terms of underlying mental health issues, linked to the graduated response and the 

sort of support that might be suitable. For children and young people with learning 

disabilities, autism or both, ensuring there are appropriate interventions (such as Positive 

Behaviour Support) available to support children and young people in school is essential. 

In response to Tom Bennett’s 2017 ‘Creating a Culture’ report, on how schools can 

promote good behaviour, we are updating the guidance and will ensure it reflects 

99



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 27  
 
 

the key messages from the report about the importance of setting clear routines 

and expectations for the school as a whole – as well as the impact of trauma, 

attachment issues or post-traumatic stress experience on individual children.59
 

 
 

Mental health awareness training 
 

98.   Building the capability to identify, and promote awareness of, mental health needs is 

crucial to help improve the quality of support children and young people receive. This 

includes awareness of the groups which are particularly at risk and the specific needs 

they may have. For example, the Youth Mental Health First Aid training programme has 

been developed to  provide teachers and frontline professionals working  with young 

people the skills and confidence to spot common signs and triggers of mental health 

issues, as well as the knowledge and confidence to help.60 These courses are currently 

being delivered as one day training sessions attended by groups of teachers within a 

locality, with over 1,000 places being funded by the Department for Health in 2017, 

which is a third of all state secondary schools in England. Over £200,000 has been 

provided to be spent in 2017/18. This is ensuring that over 100 training courses will be 

delivered across the country this year.  Each session in a host school will be attended by 

up to 16 teachers from the surrounding area.  To date, over 400 teachers have received 

training in 280 schools. 
 

 
99.   We believe mental health awareness training in every school provides a good base from 

which to better support pupils with mental wellbeing, but we know that there is more that 

can be done to embed knowledge in schools and keep it up to date. As discussed in 

Appendix B, there are mixed feelings amongst both classroom staff and senior leaders 

about their ability to identify mental health problems or behaviours in pupils. 

 
100. We  are  committed  to  building  on  this  programme  so  that,  as  set  out  in  our 

manifesto, a member of staff in every primary and secondary school in England 

receives mental health awareness training. We are the first country in the world to 

embark  on  a  government-led  initiative  of  this  nature,  and  will  provide  a  core  of 

knowledge in the system, equipping those trained to support their colleagues. 
 

 

Teacher training changes 
 

101. A framework of content for initial teacher training was published by the Department for 

Education for the first time in July 2016. It includes detail on how courses can meet the 

teacher standards, including placing an emphasis on the importance of emotional 

development, such as attachment issues and mental health, on pupils’ performance. The 

aim of the framework is to help new teachers recognise typical child and adolescent 

development, and respond to atypical development. 
 

 
102. This new framework will be incorporated into initial teacher training provision over the 

next two years. The Department for Education is monitoring implementation, working 

with others to assess the extent to which the framework is being used. There is evidence 

that the framework is influencing training provision coverage and we know that a number 

of providers have started to include training on mental health and wellbeing in their 

provision, in the course of the first year of the changes. 

100



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 28  
 

 
 
 

103. We will support the teacher training sector to develop and share this practice, 

alongside other approaches developed by schools and colleges, by including a 

specific focus on mental health in future rounds of our school improvement 

programmes. In particular, as set out above, we are planning a mental health- 

specific strand within the Teaching and Leadership Innovation Fund, to fund 

training which supports the delivery of whole school approaches. We will include 

special schools and alternative providers in this process as they often have particular 

experience and expertise in supporting pupils with mental health issues that can be 

valuable across all schools. We are also supporting schools and colleges in the 12 

Opportunity Areas to develop practice in building resilience and supporting pupils with 

mental health issues as part of their work in removing barriers to social mobility.61
 

 
 

Every child will learn about mental wellbeing 
 

104. We know that what is taught to pupils is an important part of any whole school approach. 

We have already funded guidance and lesson plans for teaching about mental health in 

Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education (PSHE) through the years of 

compulsory education (Key stages 1-4). To take this further we made a manifesto 

commitment  that  every  child  will  learn  about  mental  wellbeing,  building  on  the 

existing sound base that schools offer to pupils. We will decide the most effective way to 

deliver on our manifesto commitment through the engagement process for deciding next 

steps on PSHE, relationships and sex education (RSE) in secondary schools, and 

relationships education in primary schools. This process is now underway and will inform 

decisions on how to make relationships and RSE mandatory and whether to use the 

power to make PSHE statutory. It will include a specific focus on how mental health 

and wellbeing can support healthy relationships and how best to secure good 

quality teaching for all pupils through PSHE. 

 
105. We will consult on draft statutory guidance on RSE (and potentially PSHE), with the 

aim that schools have a clear, knowledge-rich curriculum to teach children, and staff are 

supported to teach the topic. 
 

 

Engaging parents, carers and pupils 
 

106. Peer-to-peer  support  has  the  potential  to  engage  students  with  improving  mental 

wellbeing in the school or college environment, and to help normalise mental health 

conditions. Whilst the evidence for the effectiveness of peer support is limited at this 

stage, we are committed to strengthening it through further research. Two sets of pilots 

announced by the Prime Minister in January 2017 will have a significant impact in 

developing the evidence base. We have now identified lead contractors to deliver and 

evaluate the pilots. They will be recruiting schools and starting work during the 2017/18 

academic year. The pilots consider peer support approaches and carry out randomised 

control trials on approaches to improve mental wellbeing in schools, to promote what 

works. 

 
107. We will consider how best to provide schools and colleges with the outcomes of 

these projects and a range of other piloting and trial activity being undertaken 

101



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 29  
 
 

across the country. This included the interventions looked at by the evidence review 

commissioned  to  support  this  paper  and  forms  part  of  the  proposals  for  providing 

practice support and training for the implementation of our wider reforms in this area. 
 

 
108. We know that parents look to schools for advice or help with their children’s mental 

health problems, and many feel that schools have a responsibility to support the mental 

health and wellbeing of students. Equally, whole school approaches built on clear 

expectations are most effective if reinforced outside of school. We will review the 

existing requirements on schools for publishing policies and information for 

parents and carers, including behaviour, safeguarding and SEND policies, and 

whether these requirements need to be updated to ensure the school’s approach 

to mental health and wellbeing is properly reflected. 
 

 

Recognising what schools do and measuring impact 
 

109. It is important that this range of what schools and colleges do on mental health and 

wellbeing is recognised. This includes through the outcomes it can achieve and 

recognition of the way this work can ensure children and young people stay engaged in 

education and so have the best possible chance of high attainment. The current Ofsted 

framework evaluates how leaders ensure support for pupils’ personal development and 

welfare. Ofsted is currently looking at evidence to inform the development of a new 

common inspection framework for September 2019. This will be informed by the Care 

Quality Commission’s (CQC) second phase of their thematic review of children and 

young people’s mental health services, expected for publication in Spring 2018. 

 
110. Ofsted will work with relevant government departments as the policy proposals take 

shape. This will include consideration of how inspection can continue to serve as a 

force for improvement, so that all pupils, and in particular those who are 

vulnerable, receive an education that meets their needs and prepares them well for 

life. The Department for Education will convene work to look at evidence of how 

schools  and  colleges  can  effectively measure  the  impact  of what  they do  to 

support the mental health and wellbeing of pupils. Ofsted will be engaged in this. 
 

 

Social media and internet harms 
 

111. Social media and the internet are an ever-growing part of children and young people’s 

lives; five to 15 year olds spend 15 hours each week online and more than two in five 

children aged nine, and half of 12 year olds, have a social media profile.62 However, the 

definitive impact of social media use on mental health is unknown; although increased 

social media use is linked to poorer mental health, it is not clear whether this increased 

use causes poorer mental health, or whether poorer mental health drives an increase in 

use of social media.63 A systematic review of the literature on the impact of social media 

on children and young people’s mental health reported a mixture of positive effects (30% 

of  the  literature),  mixed/no  effects  (44%)  and  risks/negative  effects  (26%).64      The 

negative effects include social isolation, competitive pressures, increased exposure to 

vulnerability/abusive content, increased likelihood of cyberbullying and the risk of 

grooming for exploitation. Conversely, the positive aspects, which can improve the lives 

of  those  children  and  young  people  suffering  with  mental  health  issues,  include 

102



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 30  
 
 

increased self-esteem and social capital, perceived social support, sources of help and 

information and opportunity for self-disclosure. 

 
112. In order to tackle the harms that can result from internet use, the Government published 

the Internet Safety Strategy Green Paper in October 2017.65 This Strategy aims to make 

Britain the safest place in the world to be online. It focuses on four main priorities: 
 

    Setting out the responsibilities of companies to their users; 

    Encouraging better technological solutions and their widespread use; 

    Supporting children, parents and carers to improve online safety; and 

    Directly tackling a range of online harms. 
 

 
It highlights that more can be done to support children, parents and carers, including 

emphasising internet safety in the school curriculum (working in partnership with the 

Department for Education), improving digital literacy, and strengthening community 

support networks. In order to further understand the relationship between increased 

internet and social media use and worsened mental health, we will be working with the 

Children’s Commissioner, who is also conducting work in this area, to explore how social 

media impacts the lives of young children. 

 
113. As part of wider work on the Internet Safety Strategy Green Paper, and following a 

successful initial roundtable in November 2017, the Department for Digital, Culture, 

Media and Sport, working closely with the Department of Health, will convene a 

working group of social media and digital sector companies to explore what more 

they can do to help us keep children and young people safe online, in terms of the 

impact of the internet on their mental health and wellbeing. 

 
114. We need a better understanding of the role of ever-changing technology in this area. 

That is why the Chief Medical Officer will produce a report on the impact that 

technology has on children and young people’s mental health. This will build on the 

recent literature review by the UK Council for Child Internet Safety (UKCCIS) Evidence 

Group on the risks and safety of children’s online activities and explore both the positive 

and the negative impacts that technology can have on children and young people’s 

mental health.66
 

 

 

Breaking down barriers: tackling stigma 
 

115. We know that children and young people will be better supported if those around them 

take care of their own mental health, and are able to spot the signs and symptoms of 

mental health issues in others, and show support. To achieve this, we have funded the 

country’s leading mental health anti-stigma campaign, Time to Change, since 2011. By 

2021 the Government will have invested up to £31 million on anti-stigma work over five 

years. The Time to Change campaign so far has reached 45 million adults and 750,000 

children  and  young  people  through  targeted  social  marketing  campaign  messages, 

almost 3.5 million people via its website and over two million face-to-face and virtual 

social contacts. Now celebrating its 10th anniversary, Time to Change has been 

successful in influencing over four million people to report positive changes in their 

attitude towards mental illness. 

103



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 31  
 

 
 
 

116. We want to get to a place where we no longer need to focus on tackling stigma, but 

instead share a common acceptance and understanding that experiencing mental health 

problems is part of life for us all. That is why, as well as this important awareness-raising 

and anti-stigma work, we have committed to invest £15 million in an ambitious 

programme to train one million members of the public in basic mental health 

awareness and first aid to increase mental health literacy and enable those trained 

to help others. The campaign will be launched in 2018 and will seek to provide people 

with the understanding to take care of their own mental health, and the mental health of 

others. 
 

 

Promoting positive mental health for all 
 

117. A significant driver of transforming children and young people’s mental health is to 

increase the focus on prevention and the wider determinants of mental health. Local 

authorities have a key role to play in leading partnership approaches to supporting good 

mental health for local populations, strengthening individuals and communities, creating 

healthy  places,   addressing  the  social  determinants  of  mental  health,  engaging 

individuals with mental health conditions in physical activity, and reducing inequalities. 

Public Health England recently launched the ‘Prevention Concordat for Better Mental 

Health’ which provides evidence, guidance and practical support for local commissioners 

and providers to strengthen an emphasis on prevention alongside early intervention and 

specialist services.67 To further build on the evidence base, Public Health England will 

convene a special interest group bringing together academics, practitioners and 

professionals, to identify key prevention evidence and its relevance to practice, 

and to highlight gaps and make recommendations for these to be addressed 

through further research. 
 
 

Families 
 

118. We want better support for families with children and young people at risk of developing 

mental health problems. We know that secure attachment with a parent or carer is a 

protective factor for children and young people’s mental health.68 In contrast, babies with 

insecure or disorganised attachment issues are at a greater risk of encountering a range 

of emotional and behavioural problems as they develop and a subset of these children 

are more likely to be diagnosed with a mental health problem in early adulthood. This is 

particularly an issue for looked after and previously looked after children who have 

experienced disrupted relationships and other Adverse Childhood Experiences. As part 

of the commitment to improving their mental health, we will commission further 

research  into  interventions  that  support  parents  and  carers  to  build  and/or 

improve the quality of attachment relationships with their babies. 

 
119. The government has committed to increasing the capacity of specialist perinatal mental 

healthcare with a broad-ranging programme backed by £365 million, expanding services 

to a further 30,000 women and ensuring there are sufficient Mother and Baby Units so 

women do not have to travel as far from home. We are also expanding community 

services. 

104



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 32  
 
 
120. We know that early years brain development is a key factor for a child’s future, with 

evidence  suggesting  links  between  brain  development  and  a  range  of  outcomes, 

including mental and physical health.69 We also commit to considering further analysis in 

areas which may include: 
 

 Supporting healthcare professionals to understand the importance of healthy, low- 

stress pregnancies and healthy childhoods; and 

 Increasing the capability of midwives to support women with perinatal mental health 

issues. 

 
121. Good inter-parental relationships are another protective factor for children’s and young 

people’s  mental  health,  particularly  for  children  living  in  poverty.  Children  who  are 

exposed to persistent and unresolved parental conflict are at a greater risk of early 

emotional and behavioural problems, anti-social behaviour as an adolescent and later 

mental health  problems as they transition into adulthood.  Analysis  indicates that  in 

2013/14, around one in ten children were exposed to potentially damaging levels of 

parental  conflict;  and  children  in  workless  families  were  three  times  as  likely  to 

experience this.70
 

 
122. Improving Lives: Helping Workless Families, published by the Department for Work and 

Pensions in April 2017, identified both parental conflict and poor health as key factors 

which contribute to disadvantage. In light of this evidence, the Department for Work and 

Pensions is launching a new programme to reduce parental conflict through evidence- 

based interventions, working with the troubled families programme and drawing on 

lessons from their ‘Local Family Offer’ trial. 

 
123. Families that face a heightened risk of parents or children developing a mental health 

problem, or greater problems accessing services, may need more extensive or targeted 

support. More evidence is needed on what form this support should take. To address 

this we will commission research on how to engage these vulnerable families, 

which will provide valuable information for local areas when referring children and 

parents to both parenting and parental conflict interventions. 

 
124. We will also encourage local areas to improve their existing support of families. We know 

that local authorities across the country commission support for parents and carers, but 

this is not always supported by the best evidence. To ensure that they are achieving 

value for money, we will work with the What Works Centres to publish and promote 

guidance for local areas to encourage evidence-based commissioning of 

interventions aimed at supporting parents and carers. This guidance will 

recommend that local authorities commission parenting programmes for which 

there is a good evidence base. 
 
 

Local communities 
 

125. The voluntary and community sector is a crucial part of the support in this country for 

young people with mental health problems and their families. This sector provides 

services which support young people in all kinds of ways, including but not limited to 

specialist  counselling  services.  Voluntary organisations  can  also  give  young  people 

105



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 33  
 
 

support networks and the opportunity to contribute to communities, charities and social 

enterprises. 

 
126. Communities play a vital role in promoting mental health. We have pledged to help 

teenagers improve their mental health by offering a new awareness course as part 

of the National Citizen Service (NCS). The aim of the course is to help young people 

struggling with exam pressure, self-esteem or other issues, playing a key role in early 

intervention and giving teenagers the confidence to access mental health support. The 

course will be developed with mental health experts and NCS graduates and will include 

mental health training for more than 10,000 NCS staff and a new network of graduates 

from the scheme to champion mental health awareness. 
 

 

Support for young adults 
 
 

Transition from children’s to adult mental health services 
 

127. Some  young  people  need  ongoing  support  into  young  adulthood,  after  they  leave 

children  and  young  people’s  mental  health  services.  This  point  of  transition  is  an 

important stage for young people, and it is not always easy. 

 
128. To address issues of transition, some areas have already adopted a mental health 

service which supports young people from ages 0-25. Phase two of the CQC’s thematic 

review  of  children  and  young  people’s  mental  health  services  will  help  to  identify 

examples of good practice and the enablers and barriers to high-quality care. This may 

include insights into how effectively mental health services meet the needs of young 

people moving on from children’s health and care services. Next year, we will draw on 

the findings  of  the CQC thematic review, and data from the  ‘Commission for 

Quality  and  Innovation’  initiatives  described  in  Chapter  2,  to  assess  whether 

further action is required to improve the experience and outcomes of transition. 
 
 

Wider support for the mental health of 16-25 year olds 
 

129. Recent research by the Institute for Public Policy Research suggests that reported levels 

of mental health problems, mental distress and low wellbeing among students in UK 

higher education are increasing. In higher education, there is already a lot of work 

underway to improve the quality of mental health services for students, alongside the 

help provided by the NHS including Improving Access to Psychological Therapies.71
 

 
130. In addition to the links being made between universities and mental health services in 

their area, universities often develop and manage their own services. The most common 

model of service provision within higher education institutions involves three separate 

teams or services: 
 

 wellbeing services which are generally staffed by health and wellbeing advisers and 

deliver low-intensity support or guidance and signpost to non-medical services; 

 counselling  services  which  are  usually  staffed  by  counsellors  and  targeted  at 

students who demonstrate moderate levels of mental distress; and 

106



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 34  
 

 
 disability services which are generally staffed by mental health coordinators and 

targeted at students who are in receipt of disabled students’ allowance or who 

experience mental illness which meets a clinical threshold for diagnosis. 

 
131. A number of higher education institutions  also make use of outsourced or external 

service provision such as 24/7 counselling or support service, online self-help services, 

and crisis line for signposting to out-of-hours support. 

 
132. To improve the quality of mental health support beyond existing services, Universities 

UK has encouraged higher education leaders to adopt mental health as a strategic 

priority and has developed a new framework to support universities to adopt a ‘whole 

university’ approach to mental health, embedding it across all policies, cultures, curricula 

and practice. The Association of Colleges made mental health in further education a 

priority in 2017, with a Mental Health Portfolio group set up to build links and share 

knowledge about improving practice. 

 
133. We want to support and build upon the work being delivered to support young people in 

higher and further education, in training and in work. We recognise that improving young 

adult mental health is a complex challenge that can only be addressed by working in 

partnership. We will therefore set up a new national strategic partnership with key 

stakeholders focused on improving the mental health of 16-25 year olds by 

encouraging more coordinated action, experimentation and robust evaluation. The 

exact scope of this partnership will be jointly developed, but we suggest that it could look 

at the following areas focused on higher education as a first step: 
 

 Leadership  –  to  ensure  that  schools,  colleges  and  universities  adopt  whole- 

organisation approaches to mental health; 

 Data – to provide a systematic strategy to improve what we know about student 

mental health. This means encouraging innovation in data linkage and analytics; 

 Prevention  –  to  embed  understanding  throughout  student  populations  of  the 

importance of mental health through exploring and testing psychosocial education; 

 Awareness and early intervention - to test and promote training for staff and students 

on how to help those experiencing mental health difficulties; 

 Wider transitions – to address the key issue of moving between services – from 

children’s mental health services into adults’ services, and from inpatient treatment to 

community support – and geographies – from home to campus - making it easier for 

young people to make these moves; 

 Integrated support services – to reduce the variations in care for young people and to 

encourage local coalitions between tertiary education providers, local authorities, and 

health and care commissioners and providers; 

 Effective  join-up  –  to  better  link  student  welfare,  accommodation  and  security 

services within institutions so students with mental health conditions are less likely to 

go unnoticed. 

 
134. We are committed across government to preventing an increase in the numbers of 

young people, including those with mental health conditions, leaving education without 

further training or employment and flowing onto welfare.  Addressing this issue is critical 

if we are to support self-efficacy and, through doing so, improve individual life chances. 

107



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 35  
 
 

We are already working to achieve change, for example piloting a supported work 

experience offer for young people flowing onto benefits, and through the ‘Access to Work 

Mental Health Support Service’. 
 

 

Supporting young adults’ mental health in the workplace 
 

135. For many young people, making sure they have the right support when they leave 

education is critical. Following the Department for Work and Pensions and Department of 

Health green paper, Work, Health and Disability: Improving Lives (October 2016), the 

Government is exploring the most appropriate way to increase life chances for young 

people transitioning from education to work. As part of this we will consider whether, and 

how, relevant employment support could be integrated within young people’s mental 

health services. This could benefit both young people in work, and those currently 

unemployed. 

 
136. We  know  that   work   is   central   to   individual   wellbeing.   Thriving  at   Work:   the 

Stevenson/Farmer review of mental health and employers (October 2017), illustrated 

that 300,000 people with long-term mental health problems lose their jobs each year and 

that  poor mental health costs employers up to £42  billion per year,  and the wider 

economy up to £99 billion. The key recommendation in the report is that all employers, 

regardless of size or industry, should adopt six ‘mental health core standards’ that lay the 

basic foundations for an approach to workplace mental health. The standards are a 

means to encourage open and more transparent organisational culture, and awareness, 

as well as the means to monitor wellbeing and track progress. Large employers and the 

public sector are expected to go even further. 

 
137. The formal response to the review was set out in the Government’s strategy publication 

Improving Lives: The Future of Work, Health and Disability (November 2017), which 

encourages employers to implement the recommendations in the review and also sets 

out how we will support employers more widely to create healthy, inclusive workplaces. It 

is our hope that more employers, recognising both the ethical and business case set out 

in the review, will take positive steps to support the mental health of their employees by 

adopting  the  mental  health  core  standards,  with  further  recommendations  for  trade 

bodies, regulators and government supporting employers in making this happen. 
 

 

Conclusion 
 

138. We have set out in this document a bold ambition. We hope it will deliver the step 

change in support for children and young people’s mental health which is needed. The 

evidence shows that schools and colleges can play – and in many cases, do already 

play – a particularly important role in providing this support. We want to build on the 

existing work they do, and take it further. We recognise that there is no easy solution and 

it is only through working together, across organisational boundaries, and in new ways, 

that we can help young people fulfil their potential. We welcome views on how best we 

might achieve this green paper’s ambition. We look forward to working with all those 

committed to improving children’s mental health to make the changes we all want to see. 

108



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 36  
 

 

Consultation 
 

139. We welcome a wide range of views on the proposals set out in this document. To 

respond to the consultation, you can complete the online consultation questions at 

https://engage.dh.gov.uk/youngmentalhealth/. The consultation will be open for 13 weeks 

and will close on 2 March 2018. The Government will publish a response in due course. 

109



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 37  
 

 

Appendix A: Evidence review 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.  We asked the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health and University College 

London to conduct a major systematic review of evidence relating to the mental health of 

children and young people between two and 18 years old, to inform the proposals in this 

green  paper.  This  review  systematically  identified  the  published  research  studies, 

focusing on five questions in order to draw out conclusions relevant to the green paper. 

Publication of the review’s full findings is planned for 2018. We are grateful to all those 

academics who conducted the review. 

 
2.  The review looked at five areas: 

 

 The relationship between mental health and educational attainment 

 Universal interventions for prevention of mental health problems 

 Selected/indicated interventions for prevention of mental health problems 

 Effectiveness of interventions when implemented in a school or community setting 

 A number of topics of special interest. 
 
 

Mental health and educational attainment 
 

3.  There was limited evidence available on mental health and educational attainment. Of 

the studies reviewed, results suggest mental health interventions are likely to have a 

positive impact on educational attainment but more research is needed to establish the 

exact nature of this relationship and the effectiveness in terms of educational outcomes 

of interventions generally aimed at mental health improvement. 
 

 

Universal prevention 
 

4.  The findings relating to universal prevention approaches were: 
 

 A review of reviews of universal prevention studies found that this type of intervention 

tends to have limited long-term effects; 

 There  was  limited  evidence  for  universal  interventions  for  the  prevention  of 

depression and anxiety; 

 Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL) programmes have limited effects 

which are small and may not be maintained at follow up; 

 Suicide and self-harm prevention programmes were found to have very small effects; 

 Such programmes may improve knowledge, attitudes and help-seeking behaviours 

but there is no robust evidence yet relevant to the UK to suggest that they reduce the 

number of suicide attempts; 

 There  is  better  evidence  for  universal  interventions  to  prevent  substance  use 

disorders; although the effects of these programmes are small, they can be 

maintained  at  one-year  follow-up  if  programmes  are  15  sessions  or  more  and 

110



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 38  
 
 

combined with family interventions. Schools show particular promise in delivering 

these interventions; 

 Anti-bullying  programmes  work  at  universal  level  to  reduce  victimisation  and 

aggression but the effects are small and are often not maintained after the end of the 

formal intervention; 

 Mentoring interventions show promise in relation to general mental health promotion 

and peer support in relation to specific issues (for example, social media and eating 

disorders). 
 

 

Effectiveness of interventions implemented in a school 
or community setting 

 

5.  A number of cross-cutting themes were identified from the review of studies with long 

follow-ups which looked at the effectiveness of treatment interventions in a school or 

community setting. These include the following: 
 

 There  is  limited  evidence  to  support  the  effectiveness  of  specific  preventive 

interventions such as mindfulness and positive psychology approaches where these 

are well implemented. Whilst the impact of school-wide anti-bullying programmes on 

conduct disorder is unclear, such programmes have been identified as having the 

potential to reduce bullying levels and have been identified as cost-effective; 

 Evidence supports school settings as providing many opportunities for identifying 

children and young people at risk. Examples include behaviours linked to specific 

mental health problems such as eating patterns that are likely to result in eating 

disorders or awareness of friendship groups around young people who may be self- 

harming, and taking action to mitigate potential clustering effects; 

 School   environments   are   well   suited   to   ‘stepped’   or   graduated   prevention 

approaches where there is both universal and targeted interventions. At a universal 

level there may be ‘herd effects’ leading to better outcomes for students not 

specifically targeted due to risk factors. School environments can also be non- 

stigmatising meaning that children and their parents may be more receptive of 

accepting support through these routes as compared to via mental health services; 

 There is evidence that appropriately-trained and supported staff such as teachers, 

school nurses, counsellors, and teaching assistants can achieve results comparable 

to those achieved by trained therapists in delivering a number of interventions 

addressing mild to moderate mental health problems (such as anxiety, conduct 

disorder, substance use disorders and post-traumatic stress disorder); 

 The  coordination  of  interventions  and  the  development  of  effective  pathways 

between  children  and  young  people’s  mental  health  services  and  school  is 

particularly important for children and young people with more severe problems and 

those with problems such as attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder where 

medication is involved. 

 
6.  There are some key factors relating to how mental health support is delivered in schools 

which influences the extent to which it is effective: 
 

 Getting the whole school to participate is vital. Support from leadership teams and 

parents is key, as is the ability to deliver support in a flexible way, fitting for example 

111



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 39  
 
 

into  the  school  timetable  and  ensuring  compatibility  alongside  the  existing 

responsibilities of school staff; 

 There must be provision of high-quality well trained staff training and supervision 

both in relation to effective and timely identification of children and young people at 

risk, and in relation to the provision of interventions; 

 There should be routine monitoring of outcomes; 

 Engagement from children and young people is likely to increase if interventions are 

accessible, personalised and flexible, graduated, non-stigmatising, age-appropriate, 

context-appropriate and culturally-appropriate. 

112



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 40  
 

 

Appendix B: Existing support for 
children and young people in 
schools and colleges 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.  Schools  and  colleges  already  do  a  lot  to  promote  positive  mental  health.  The 

Department for Education’s survey of mental health support in schools and colleges 

(published August 2017) identified the extent to which they are already actively taking 

whole systems approaches to mental health, with action spanning promotion of mental 

health and wellbeing, early identification, and referral to and joint working with specialist 

support.72   Key  actions  schools/colleges  report  they are  currently taking  to  address 

mental health are: 

 
i. School-wide approaches to promote mental health and wellbeing 

 92% have school ethos/environment that promotes mutual care and concern 

 64% felt promotion of mental health and wellbeing is integrated into 

institution 

 49% of schools have a dedicated lead for Mental Health (of which 40% is a 

senior leadership team member) 

 89% of schools run at least one parental engagement activity, 57% run face- 

to-face sessions with parents 

 
ii. Non-NHS support 

 61% offer counselling (84% of secondary schools, 56% of primaries) 

 
iii. Training 

 90% of schools offer staff training on supporting pupils’ mental health and 

wellbeing (47% all staff, 43% some staff) 

 
iv. Linking with NHS services 

 68% have a designated member of staff responsible for linking with 
specialist mental health services 

 
v. Triage 

 82% use ad-hoc staff concerns as a way of identifying needs 

 24% use targeted screening of pupils to identify mental health needs 

 
2.  In addition to the role of the wider teaching staff, we know that many schools also have 

staff with more specific roles in relation to mental health. Around half of schools and 

colleges (49%) have a dedicated lead for mental health, a role which can have a wide 

remit, as shown in Figure 1 below. 

113



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 41  
 

 

 
Figure 1: proportion of school mental health leads with different responsibilities 

 

 

3.  More than two thirds of schools (68%) have a designated member of staff responsible 

for linking with specialist mental health services.73 Having this kind of role (with an 

equivalent in children and young people’s NHS mental health services) can lead to 

specific improvements in understanding of referral routes, improved knowledge and 

awareness of mental health issues among school leads, and improved timeliness and 

appropriateness of referrals. 

 
4.  However, the Department for Education’s 2016 Teacher Voice survey shows a mixed 

picture on how confident school staff feel about mental health and wellbeing: 
 

 While 57% of teachers feel equipped to identify behaviour that may be linked to a 

mental health issues, almost a quarter (23%) did not feel equipped. 

     40% felt equipped to teach children in their class who have mental health needs, 

34% did not. 

     55% knew how to help pupils access support in the school, 22% did not.74
 

 
 

Improving links between NHS mental health services 
and schools/colleges 

 

5.  As part of the Government’s response to the recommendations of the 2015 report 

Future in Mind, NHS England and the Department for Education began a series of 

mental health services and schools link pilots. The first 22 pilot areas, including 27 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and 255 schools, established named contacts 

with schools and children and young people’s mental health services, and ran joint 

training workshops facilitated by the Anna Freud National Centre for Children and 

Families. The evaluation (Mental Health Services and Schools Link Pilots, published in 

February 2017) found that the pilots had considerable success in strengthening 

communication  and  joint  working  arrangements  between  schools  and  children  and 

young people’s mental health services. This included an improved understanding of the 

referral routes to specialist mental health support for children in the local area.75 We are 

114



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 42  
 
 

extending this pilot to up to 1,200 more schools and colleges in 20 additional CCG 

areas. 
 

 
6.  Both the evidence review and the evaluation of the mental health services and schools 

link pilots found that having senior level buy-in is essential to schools adopting a positive 

approach to mental health. They also found that teachers and other school staff play an 

important role in identifying children and young people who are experiencing problems. 

Whilst most schools offer staff training on mental health, evidence suggests that more 

can be done to improve the ability of school staff to identify behaviour linked with mental 

health issues. 

 
7.  Children who experience care often have more challenging needs. We are updating the 

statutory guidance for designated teachers so that it strengthens guidance regarding the 

awareness of and support for these children’s mental health needs. 

 
8.  Many aspects of school and college life can have an impact on mental health and 

wellbeing, beyond good quality teaching that supports pupils/students to achieve, and 

the promotion of good mental health amongst school staff. For example, programmes 

which increase children’s contact with the natural environment have been linked to 

improvements in a range of physical and mental health and wellbeing outcomes, 

including reductions in stress and anxiety. The Government will soon publish a 25 year 

environment plan which aims to increase children’s engagement with natural 

environments. 

 
9.  The cross-government strategy ‘Sporting Future’ (2015) sets mental wellbeing as one of 

its  five  key  outcomes  and  places  great  importance  on  physical  activity  for  young 

people’s mental wellbeing.76 And the ‘Active Lives (Children and Young People) survey’, 

which has been rolled out to schools this year, includes questions which relate to mental 

wellbeing, asking young people (aged five-15) about happiness and satisfaction as well 

as feelings of trust and resilience. 
 

 

Action to tackle poor behaviour and bullying 
 

10. Poor behaviour and bullying can have a particular impact on the mental health of other 

pupils, and of staff. In this context we welcomed the recommendations set out in Tom 

Bennett’s ‘Creating a Culture’ report, which cover how schools can promote genuine 

good behaviour.77 This report focuses on establishing shared values reinforced by high 

expectations of all pupils, within a whole school focus on behaviour and clear routines 

for pupils. The report identified a number of common features amongst the most 

successful schools: 
 

 Committed, highly visible school leaders, with ambitious goals, supported by a strong 

leadership team; 

 Effectively communicated, realistic, detailed expectations understood clearly by all 

members of the school; 

 Highly consistent working practices throughout the school; 

 A clear understanding of what the school culture is (‘this is how we do things around 

here, and these are the values we hold’); 

115



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 43  
 

 
    High levels of staff and parental commitment to the school vision and strategies; 

    High levels of support between leadership and staff, for example, staff training; 

 Attention  to  detail  and  thoroughness  in  the  execution  of  school  policies  and 

strategies; and 

 High expectations of all students and staff, and a belief that all students matter 

equally. 

 
11. To support schools with tackling bullying, the Department for Education is providing £1.6 

million,  for  four  anti-bullying  organisations  to  support  schools  tackle  bullying.  This 

funding includes projects targeting bullying of particular groups, such as those with 

special education needs and disabilities (SEND) and those who are victims of hate- 

related bullying, along with a project to report bullying online. 

 
12. Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) pupils, or pupils who are perceived to 

be LGBT, are disproportionately affected by bullying. The Government Equalities Office 

is  has  made  available  £3  million  of  funding  to  deliver  new  initiatives  against 

homophobia, biphobia, transphobia across England. This programme will reach at least 

1,200  schools  by  the  end  of  March  2019.  Six  providers  will  be  delivering  the 

interventions:  Stonewall,  Barnardo’s,  LGBT  Consortium,  Proud  Trust,  Metro,  and 

National Children’s Bureau. The programme is testing two approaches: staff training and 

‘whole-school’ approaches. Our hope is that by reducing incidences of homophobic, 

biphobic and transphobic bullying we can improve the wellbeing of LGBT pupils in 

schools. 

 
13. Children and young people with SEND are also disproportionately affected by persistent 

bullying   during   their   school   lives.   The   Department   for   Education   has   funded 

programmes of work with National Children’s Bureau to develop support and advice for 

schools, families, young people and the children’s workforce to raise awareness of this 

and to support schools to reduce incidences of bullying of children and young people 

with SEND. 
 

 

Supporting self-help 
 

14. Schools and specialist services clearly have an important role to play in supporting 

children and young people to help themselves, whilst also providing treatment or other 

interventions to support good mental health. However, signposting children and young 

people to appropriate self-help can be the right thing to do for young people who do not 

require mental health treatment. Self-help options can also be beneficial when used 

alongside treatment and crisis interventions, for example to ensure children and young 

people have strategies and plans for what they can do in a crisis, or to enable them to 

access support whilst waiting for, or in between routine appointments. This kind of 

support may prevent conditions getting worse, and also reduce the levels of dropout 

from treatment by improving engagement with mental health services. 

 
15. There  are  many  examples  of  good  practice  where  local  services  are  supporting 

children, young people and parents, to access self-help support in new and innovative 

ways. It is also important to ensure that self-help resources are quality-assured and 

116



 

Transforming children and young people's mental health provision  Page 144 
 

 
 

evidence based. The  NHS Apps Library provides access to quality assure digital tools 

for  self-help through an  NHS   endorsement process, based on  evidence.  In  2016/17 

NHS   England funded  a   'Digital  Development  Lab'   that   identified  and   accelerated 

development of six mental health apps  for children and  young people. 

117



Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 45  
 

 

References 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 Department of Health and NHS England. Future in Mind: promoting, protecting and 
improving our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. Department of 
Health. 2015 (accessed November 2017) 
2 The review (‘the evidence review’) was conducted by the National Collaborating Centre for 
Mental Health and University College London. 
3 Marshall. L, Wishart. R, Dunatchik. A, Smith. N. Supporting Mental Health in Schools and 

Colleges: Quantitative survey. Department for Education. 2017. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-mental-health-in-schools-and- 

colleges (accessed November 2017) 
4 Care Quality Commission. Review of children’s and young people’s mental health services. 
Phase one report. 2017. https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/review-children- 
young-peoples-mental-health-services-phase-one-report (accessed November 2017) 
5 Based on 2016 ONS population estimates for ages 5-16. Office of National Statistics. 
Overview of the UK population: February 2016. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populatione 
stimates/articles/overviewoftheukpopulation/february2016 (accessed November 2017). 
6 Morgan. C, Webb. R, Carr. M, Kontopantelis. E, Green. J, Chew-Graham. C, Kapur. N, 

Ashcroft. D. Incidence, clinical management, and mortality risk following self-harm among 

children and adolescents: cohort study in primary care. British Medical Journal 2017. 359. 

http://www.bmj.com/content/359/bmj.j4351 (accessed November 2017) 
7Green. H, McGinnity. A, Meltzer. H, Ford. T, Goodman. R. Mental health of children and 
young people in Great Britain, 2004. Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan 2005. 
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06116 (accessed November 2017) 
8 This variation holds for emotional disorders (5% of the older group, compared to 2% of the 
young group) and conduct disorders (7% vs 5%), but no age differences were found with 
hyperkinetic and less common disorders. Ibid. 
9 While girls were slightly more likely than boys to have an emotional disorder (4% compared 
to 3%), boys were more likely to have a conduct disorder (8% vs 4%) or hyperkinetic 
disorder (3% compared to 0.4%). Ibid. 
10 Ibid. 
11 Brooks. F, Magnusson. J, Klemera. E, Chester. K, Spencer. N, Smeeton. N. Health 
Behaviour in School-Aged Children – England National Report 2014. University of 
Hertfordshire. 2014.  http://www.hbsc.org/news/index.aspx?ni=3256 (accessed November 
2017) 
12 “Cyberbullying describes bullying using mobile phones and the internet” p. 376 in Smith. 
P, Mahdavi. J, Carvalho. M, Fisher. S, Russell. S, Tippett. N. 2008. Journal of Child 
Psychology and Psychiatry, 49 (4), 376 – 385. 
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01846.x/full (accessed 
November 2017) 
13 Lessof. C, Ross. A, Brind. R, Bell. E, Newton. S, Longitudinal Study of Young People in 
England cohort 2: health and wellbeing at wave 2. Department for Education. 2016. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/599871/LSYP 
E2_w2-research_report.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
14 Hughes. K, Bellis. M, Hardcastle. K, Sethi. D, Butchart. A, Mikton. C, Jones. L, Dunne. M. 
The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and 

118

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-mental-health-in-schools-and-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-mental-health-in-schools-and-
http://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/review-children-
http://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/review-children-
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populatione
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populatione
http://www.bmj.com/content/359/bmj.j4351
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06116
http://www.hbsc.org/news/index.aspx?ni=3256
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01846.x/full
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/599871/LSYP
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/599871/LSYP


Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 46  
 

 
 
 

meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health, 2. 2017. 
http://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/PIIS2468-2667(17)30118-4.pdf (accessed 
November 2017) 
15 Ibid. 
16 Meltzer. H, Gatward. R, Corbin. T, Goodman. R, Ford. T. The mental health of young 
people looked after by local authorities in England. Norwich: HMSO. 2003. 
https://sp.ukdataservice.ac.uk/doc/5280/mrdoc/pdf/5280userguide.pdf (accessed November 
2017) 
17 To note, 37% had a conduct disorder, 12% an emotional disorder and 7% a hyperkinetic 
disorder. 
18 CAADA. In plain sight: The evidence from children exposed to domestic abuse (research 
report). 2014. 
http://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/In_plain_sight_the_evidence_from_childre 
n_exposed_to_domestic_abuse.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
19 King. M, Semlyen. J. See Tai. S, Killaspy. H, Osborn. D, Popelyuk. D, Nazareth, I. A 
systematic review of mental disorder, suicide, and deliberate self-harm in lesbian, gay and 
bisexual people. BMC Psychiatry. 2008. 8 (70). 
https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-244X-8-70 (accessed 
November 2017) 
20 Chakraborty. A, McManus. S, Brugha. T, Bebbington. P, King. M. Mental health of the 
non-heterosexual population of England. British Journal of Psychiatry. 2011. 198, 143 – 148. 
http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/bjprcpsych/198/2/143.full.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
21 Semlyen. J, King. M, Varney.  J, Hagger-Johnson. G. Sexual orientation and symptoms of 
common mental disorder or low wellbeing: Combined meta-analysis of 12 UK population 
health surveys. BMC Psychiatry. 2016. 16 (67). 
https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-016-0767-z (accessed 
November 2017) 
22 Metro. Youth chances: Integrated report. 2016. 
http://www.metrocharity.org.uk/sites/default/files/2017- 
04/National%20Youth%20Chances%20Intergrated%20Report%202016.pdf (accessed 
November 2017) 
23Centre for Public Health, Liverpool John Moores University. The mental health needs of 
gang-affiliated young people. Public Health England. 2015. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398674/The_ 
mental_health_needs_of_gang-affiliated_young_people_v3_23_01_1.pdf  (accessed 
November 2017) 
24 Goldman-Mellor. S, Caspi. A, Arseneault. L, Ajala. N, Ambler. A, Danese. A, Fisher. H, 
Hucker. A, Odgers. C, Williams. T, Wong. C, Moffitt. T. Committed to work but vulnerable: 
Self-perceptions and mental health in NEET 18-year olds from a contemporary British 
cohort. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2016. 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4789764/ (accessed November 2017) 
25 UCL Institute of Health Equity and PHE. Local action on health inequalities: Reducing the 
number of young people not in employment, education or training (NEET). Public Health 
England. 2014.   https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health- 
inequalities-evidence-papers (accessed November 2017). 
26 Although caution should be taken here due to small numbers of children excluded. 
27 Green. H, McGinnity. A, Meltzer. H, Ford. T, Goodman. R. Mental health of children and 
young people in Great Britain, 2004. Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan 2005. 
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06116 (accessed November 2017). Representative 
sample of 5-16 year olds. Includes conduct disorder, emotional disorders, hyperkinetic 
disorders, less common disorders (e.g. autism spectrum disorder, tic disorder, eating 
disorders). Proportion of children experiencing time off school: 17% emotional disorders, 
14% with conduct disorders, 11% with hyperkinetic disorders, 5% children with no disorder – 
away from school for over 15 days in the previous term. 

119

http://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/PIIS2468-2667(17)30118-4.pdf
http://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/In_plain_sight_the_evidence_from_childre
http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/bjprcpsych/198/2/143.full.pdf
http://www.metrocharity.org.uk/sites/default/files/2017-
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398674/The_
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4789764/
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-action-on-health-
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06116
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06116


Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 47  

 
28 Knapp. M, Ardino. V, Brimblecombe. N, Evans-Lacko. S, Iemmi. V, King. D, Wilson. J. 
Youth Mental Health: New Economic Evidence. London: London School of Economics. 
2016.   http://www.pssru.ac.uk/archive/pdf/5160.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
29 Smith Institute. Childhood mental health and life chances in post-war Britain: Insights from 
three national birth cohort studies. Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health. 2009. 
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/life_chances_summary%20(2).pdf (accessed November 2017) 
30 Goodman. A, Joyce. R, Smith. J. The long shadow cast by childhood physical and mental 
problems on adult life. PNAS. 2011. 108(15), 6032-6037. 
http://www.pnas.org/content/108/15/6032.full.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
31 HM Inspectorate of Prisons. Children in Custody 2015-16: An analysis of 12-18 year olds’ 
perceptions of their experiences in secure training centres and young offender institutions. 
London: HM Inspectorate of Prisons. 2016. 
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprisons/wp- 
content/uploads/sites/4/2016/11/Children-in-Custody-2015-16_WEB.pdf (accessed 
November 2017) 
32 Khan. L, Parsonage. M, Stubbs. J. Investing in children’s mental health: A review of 
evidence on the costs and benefits of increased service provision. London: Centre for Mental 
Health. 2015.  https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/investing-in-children-report 
(accessed November 2017) 
33 Spenrath, MA., Clarke, M.E., & Kutcher, S. (2011). The Science of Brain and Biological 
Development: Implications for Mental Health Research, Practice and Policy. Journal of the 
Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. 20 (4). Available: 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3222573/ 
34 Teens were rated by their teachers at age 13 and 15, on items similar to those seen in 
internalising disorders such as depression and anxiety. Survey participants scoring in the top 
6% of the population distribution were defined as cases of ‘common mental disorder’ (CMD) 
(n=277 at either age). Those who met the definition at both 13 and 15 years were defined as 
‘persistent CMD’ (n=46). 
35 Jones. P. Adult mental health disorders and their age at onset. The British Journal of 
Psychiatry, 202 (s54), 5-10.  http://news.nursesfornurses.com.au/Nursing- 
news/wpcontent/uploads/2015/02/Mentalhealthdisordersandageofonset-1.pdf (accessed 
November 2017) 
36 Odgers. C, Caspi. A, Broadbent. J, Dickson. N, Hancox. R, Harrington. H, Poulton. R, 
Sears. M, Thomson. W, Moffitt. T. Prediction of differential adult health burden by conduct 
problem subtypes in males. Archive of General Psychiatry. 2006. 64(4), 476–484. 
37 Goodman. A, Joyce. R, Smith. J. The long shadow cast by childhood physical and mental 

problems on adult life. PNAS. 2011. 108(15), 6032–6037. 

http://www.pnas.org/content/108/15/6032.full.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
38 Durcan. G. Mental Health and Criminal Justice: Views from consultations across England 
& Wales. London: Centre for Mental Health. 2016. 
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=83a8bfa6-678f- 
470e-9f49-de5c0769e752 (accessed November 2017) 
39 Up to £24 billion in societal gains by treating children with a conduct disorder with 71% of 
those savings relating to crime, and other savings in costs resulting from mental illness in 
adulthood, increases in lifetime savings, and other savings. Firedli. L, Parsonage. M. Mental 
Health Promotion: Building an Economic Case. Northern Ireland Association for Mental 
Health 2007. 
http://www.chex.org.uk/media/resources/mental_health/Mental%20Health%20Promotion%2 
0-%20Building%20an%20Economic%20Case.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
40 Knapp. M, McDaid. D, Parsonage. M. Mental health promotion and prevention: The 
economic case. London: London School of Economics. 2011. 
http://www.lse.ac.uk/businessAndConsultancy/LSEEnterprise/pdf/PSSRUfeb2011.pdf 
(accessed November 2017) 

120

http://www.pssru.ac.uk/archive/pdf/5160.pdf
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/life_chances_summary%20(2).pdf
http://www.pnas.org/content/108/15/6032.full.pdf
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprisons/wp-
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprisons/wp-
http://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/investing-in-children-report
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3222573/
http://news.nursesfornurses.com.au/Nursing-
http://news.nursesfornurses.com.au/Nursing-
http://www.pnas.org/content/108/15/6032.full.pdf
http://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=83a8bfa6-678f-
http://www.chex.org.uk/media/resources/mental_health/Mental%20Health%20Promotion%252
http://www.lse.ac.uk/businessAndConsultancy/LSEEnterprise/pdf/PSSRUfeb2011.pdf


Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 48  

 

41 Ibid 
42 Ibid 
43 Royal College of Psychiatrists. Parental mental illness: The problems for children. 
Information for parents, carers and anyone who works with young people. 2017. 
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/healthadvice/parentsandyouthinfo/parentscarers/parentalmentalilln 
ess.aspx (accessed November 2017) 
44 Manning. C, Gregoire. A. Effects of parental mental illness on children. Psychiatry. 2009. 
8: 7-9. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1476179308002188 (accessed 
November 2017) 
45 Green. H, McGinnity. A, Meltzer. H, Ford. T, Goodman. R. Mental health of children and 
young people in Great Britain, 2004. Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan 2005. 
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06116 (accessed November 2017) 
46 Specialist inpatient services for children and adolescents: 73% “good”, 7% “outstanding”. 
Specialist community services for children and adolescents: 59% “good”, 9% “outstanding”. 
Care Quality Commission. Review of children’s and young people’s mental health services. 
Phase one report. 2017. https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/review-children- 
young-peoples-mental-health-services-phase-one-report (accessed November 2017) 
47 Time from referral to the second contact. Digital.nhs.uk. 2017. 
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/media/25613/NHS-England-CYPMH-Additional-Waiting-Time- 
Statistics-FINAL/xls/NHS_England_CYPMH_Additional_Waiting_Time_Statistics_FINAL.xlsx 
(accessed November 2017) 
48 House of Commons Education & Health Committees, Children and young people’s mental 
health – the role of education, April 2017. 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmhealth/849/84902.htm 
(accessed November 2017) 
49 National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health and University College London evidence 
review, forthcoming. 
50 Department of Health and NHS England. Future in Mind: promoting, protecting and 
improving our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. Department of 
Health. 2015.  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health- 
services-for-young-people (accessed November 2017) 
51Faculty of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Royal College of Psychiatrists. Survey of in- 
patient admissions for children and young people with mental health problems. 2015. Royal 
College of Psychiatrists.  http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/RCPsych%20report- 
%20Young%20People%20Stuck%20in%20the%20Gap%20Between%20Community%20an 
d%20In-Patient%20Care.pdf. (accessed November 2017) 
52 More information on this project, and the recommendations from the expert working group, 
can be found at  https://www.scie.org.uk/children/care/mental-health/ 
53 NHS digital. Statistics about Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism Services. 

Mental Health Services Monthly Statistics. http://content.digital.nhs.uk/mhldsreports 

(accessed November 2017) 
54 Marshall. L, Wishart. R, Dunatchik. A, Smith. N. Supporting Mental Health in Schools and 
Colleges: Quantitative survey. Department for Education. 2017. and White. C, Lea. J, Gibb. 
J, Street. C. Supporting Mental Health in Schools and Colleges: Qualitative case studies. 
Department for Education. 2017.  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting- 
mental-health-in-schools-and-colleges (accessed November 2017) 
55 Although the evidence base on delivery is still developing, the elements of practice that 
make up a whole school approach to mental health have been identified by a number of 
pieces of work (see endnote 58) 
56 Day. L, Blades. R, Spence. C, Ronicle. J. Mental Health and Schools link pilots: 
Evaluation report. Department for Education. 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-and-schools-link-pilot- 
evaluation (accessed November 2017) 

121

http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/healthadvice/parentsandyouthinfo/parentscarers/parentalmentalilln
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1476179308002188
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB06116
http://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/review-children-
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/media/25613/NHS-England-CYPMH-Additional-Waiting-Time-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-
http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/RCPsych%20report-
http://www.scie.org.uk/children/care/mental-health/
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/mhldsreports
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-and-schools-link-pilot-


Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 49  

 

57 Time from referral to the second contact. Content.digital.nhs.uk. 2017. 
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/media/25613/NHS-England-CYPMH-Additional-Waiting-Time- 
Statistics-FINAL/xls/NHS_England_CYPMH_Additional_Waiting_Time_Statistics_FINAL.xlsx 
(accessed November 2017) 
58 Public Health England. Promoting children and young people’s emotional health and 
wellbeing: A whole school and collage approach. Public Health England. 2015. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_ 
EHWB_draft_20_03_15.pdf (accessed November 2017) and Partnership for Mental 
Wellbeing in Schools/NCB. A whole school framework for emotional well-being and mental 
health. National Children’s Bureau. 2016.  https://www.ncb.org.uk/resources- 
publications/resources/whole-school-framework-emotional-well-being-and-mental-health 
(accessed November 2017). 
59 Department for Education. Creating a Culture: how school leaders can optimise behaviour. 
Department for Education. 2017.  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/behaviour-in- 
schools (accessed November 2017) 
60 An evaluation of the Australian programme, on which this training is based, found 
significant improvements in mental health literacy, confidence in providing Mental Health 
First Aid to a peer, help-seeking intentions and student mental health, alongside a significant 
reduction in stigmatising attitudes across the schools. Kelly. C, Mithen. J, Fischer. J, 
Kitchener. B, Jorm. A, Lowe. A, Scanlan. C. Youth mental health first aid: a description of the 
program and an initial evaluation.  International Journal of Mental Health Systems. 2011. 5:4. 
https://ijmhs.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1752-4458-5-4 (accessed November 
2017). 
61 Opportunity areas are Blackpool, Derby, Norwich, Oldham, Scarborough, West Somerset, 
Bradford, Doncaster, Fenland & East Cambridgeshire, Hastings, Ipswich and Stoke-on-Trent 
62 Ofcom. Children and parents: media use and attitudes report. 2016. Ofcom. 

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/ data/assets/pdf_file/0034/93976/Children-Parents-Media-Use- 
Attitudes-Report-2016.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
63 Understanding Society data/ 2015. ONS Digital. https://visual.ons.gov.uk/more-than-a- 
quarter-of-children-who-spend-longer-on-social-networking-websites-report-mental-ill-health- 
symptoms-2/ (accessed November 2017). 
64 Best. P, Manktelow. R, Taylor. B. Online Communication, Social Media and Adolescent 
Wellbeing: A Systematic Narrative Review. Children and Young Services Review 2014. 41, 
27-36. 
65 Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport, Internet Safety Strategy. Department for 
Digital, Culture, Media and Sport. 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/internet-safety-strategy-green-paper 
(accessed November 2017) 
66 Livingstone. S, Davidson. J, Bryce. J.  Children’s online activities, risks and safety: A 
literature review by the UKCCIS Evidence Group. Department for Digital, Culture, Media & 
Sport. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/650933/Literat 
ure_Review_Final_October_2017.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
67 Public Health England. Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health. Public Health 
England. 2017. https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better- 
mental-health (accessed November 2017). 
68 Early Intervention Foundation. Inter-parental relationships, conflict and the impacts of 
poverty. 2017. http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/interparental-relationships- 
conflict-poverty-overview_April2017.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
69Spenrath, MA., Clarke, M.E., & Kutcher, S. (2011). The Science of Brain and Biological 
Development: Implications for Mental Health Research, Practice and Policy. Journal of the 
Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. 20 (4). Available: 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3222573/ 

122

http://content.digital.nhs.uk/media/25613/NHS-England-CYPMH-Additional-Waiting-Time-
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/media/25613/NHS-England-CYPMH-Additional-Waiting-Time-
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_
http://www.ncb.org.uk/resources-
http://www.ncb.org.uk/resources-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/behaviour-in-
http://www.ofcom.org.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/internet-safety-strategy-green-paper
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/650933/Literat
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/650933/Literat
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-
http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/interparental-relationships-
http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/interparental-relationships-
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3222573/


Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision Page | 50  

 

70 Department for Work and Pensions. Improving Lives Helping Workless Families – Analysis 
and Research Pack. Department for Work and Pensions. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642566/impro 
ving-lives-helping-workless-families-web-version.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
71 Thorley. C. Not by degrees: Improving student mental health in the UK’s universities. 
London: Institute of Public Policy Research. 2017. 
https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/not-by-degrees (accessed November 2017) 
72 Marshall. L, Wishart. R, Dunatchik. A, Smith. N. Supporting Mental Health in Schools and 
Colleges: Quantitative survey. Department for Education. 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-mental-health-in-schools-and- 
colleges (accessed November 2017). 
73 Ibid. 
74 Smith. R, Tattserall. J, Rabiasz. A, Sims. D. NFER Teacher voice omnibus. Department 
for Education. 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/584503/Teach 
er_Voice_Summer_2016_Report_Final.pdf (accessed November 2017) 
75 Day. L, Blades. R, Spence. C, Ronicle. J. Mental Health and Schools link pilots: 
Evaluation report. Department for Education. 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-and-schools-link-pilot- 
evaluation (accessed November 2017). 
76 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport, Sporting Future: A new strategy for an 
active nation. 2015.  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sporting-future-a-new- 
strategy-for-an-active-nation (accessed November 2017) 
77Bennett. T. Independent Review. Creating a culture: How school leaders can optimise 
behaviour. Department for Education, 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/behaviour-in-schools (accessed November 
2017) 

123

http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642566/impro
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642566/impro
http://www.ippr.org/research/publications/not-by-degrees
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-mental-health-in-schools-and-
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/584503/Teach
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/584503/Teach
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-and-schools-link-pilot-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-and-schools-link-pilot-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sporting-future-a-new-
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/behaviour-in-schools


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CCS1017156832 
 

 
978-1-5286-0061-3 

124



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 18 December 2017

From: Corporate Director - Resources and Transformation

Scrutiny Advisory Board – Children and Young People, 
Board Briefing

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To brief the Board on changes to Membership, Board activity since the 
previous Board, and to present to the Board the proposed work programme 
that is due to go to Scrutiny Management Board.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To note the briefing.

3.0 Background

3.1 The previous meeting of the Board took place in September 2017. Since 
then the main focus of Board activity has related to:

 Participating in the Ofsted review in November.

 Working jointly with the Corporate Parenting Board on responding to 
Government consultation on Corporate Parenting Principles. 

3.2 Draft work programme for the Board: In September Scrutiny Management 
Board agreed the programme for the Scrutiny Advisory Board – Children and 
Young People as set out below:

Issue Notes Timeline

Task Groups 
& 
Development 
Sessions

Implementation of 
Public Health 
Services For 0-19 
Year Olds

Special Joint Children’s and Health 
Scrutiny Committee meeting on the 14 
September 2016 recommended that a 
Task and Finish Group be established to 
look at the implementation of the 
proposals. This will be convened to 
enable the Group to look at the next 
phase of proposals for the service.

To be 
confirmed

125

Agenda Item 12



Regional Adoption 
Agencies

To scrutinise the Council’s readiness to 
meet the 2020 statutory target for 
Cumbria to be part of a Regional 
Adoption Agency.

February 
Board

Youth 
Provision/Youth 
Support

Members have raised questions about 
provision within their divisions, and would 
like to have an overview of the approach 
being taken.  

February 
Board

Apprenticeships in 
Cumbria 

An in depth look at how the Council is 
delivering on its own programme and 
with partners to promote apprenticeships, 
and how work is being undertaken with 
young people to prepare them for a 
possible apprenticeship route. Focus will 
include children looked after, care 
leavers, disabled young people and 
young people on a Education and Health 
Care Plan, and young people in areas of 
high child poverty.

May Board 

Improvement 
Update

Standing Item for each board meeting to 
update on progress in the improvement 
journey.

Ongoing 
Standing Item

Verbal updates 
from Cabinet 
Members

Standing Item for each board meeting, 
Cabinet Members to provide a verbal 
update to the Board any activities they 
have been engaged with including 
lobbying and national work.

Ongoing
Standing Item

Board Briefing To consider items not covered elsewhere 
in the Board agenda, report from 
Performance Working Group, any 
additional meetings and to agree work 
programme 

Ongoing
Standing Item

Items for 
Future Board 
Meetings

CSE Update To provide Members a six monthly report 
on Child Sexual Exploitation

December 
Board and July 
Board

3.3 The following items relevant to the Board are on the Council’s Forward Plan:

ITEM
RELEVANT 
CABINET 
MEMBER

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER CABINET

School Funding Formula 2018-19  John 
Macilwraith 21/12/17

Approval of the Children Looked 
After Placements Commissioning 
Sufficiency

 John 
Macilwraith 21/12/17

School Admissions Arrangements 
2019/20

S 
Sanderson

John 
Macilwraith 

(Dan Barton)
21/12/17

Response from Scrutiny to 
Strategic Planning Consultation (to 
be emailed due to time constraints

SF Young Dawn Roberts 
(Paul Robinson) 21/12/17

126



Children's Sufficiency of 
Placements - Local 
Implementation Plan

A Burns
John 

Macilwraith (Jo 
Atkinson)

21/12/17

Update on OFSTED inspection A Burns John 
Macilwraith  

Cabinet Reports (1/2/18)   1/2/18
Inclusion Strategy – including 
Alternative Provision/Resource 
Provision/Special Schools, PRUs 
and Better Places for Learning

A Burns/ S 
Sanderson

John 
Macilwraith 

(Dan Barton)
22/3/18

Q4 2017/18 Performance Report S Young Dawn Roberts 
(Paul Robinson) 22/3/18

Council Plan Delivery Plan  Dawn Roberts 
(Paul Robinson) 26/4/18

Joel Rasbash, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor
15 September 2017

Appendices

Draft Work Programme.

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

Background Papers

No background papers.

Contact: Joel Rasbash, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor

127



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 Member Code of Conduct - Declaring Interests Flowchart
	5 MINUTES
	6 Children's Complaints Report
	1ComplaintsAnnualReportbappendix1
	1_Complaints Annual Report c) appendix 2

	7 School Attainment Data 2017
	2_School Attainment Data appendix
	Educational Attainment 2017 for Scrutiny revised v2

	8 Review of Alternative Provision
	9 Transforming Children and Young People's Mental Health Services - Government Green Paper
	4_Transforming CYP MH Green Paper 2) Appendix

	12 BOARD BRIEFING

